
Vestavia Hills 
City Council Agenda 

January 27, 2020 
6:00 PM 

1. Call to Order              

2. Roll Call 

3. Invocation – Tom Bell 

4. Pledge Of Allegiance  

5. Announcements and Guest Recognition 

6. City Manager’s Report 

7. Councilors’ Reports 

8. Approval Of Minutes – January 13, 2020 (Regular Meeting) 

Old Business 

9. Ordinance Number 2905 – An Ordinance To Approve A Contract To Purchase The Real Estate 

And Improvements Situated At 3995-3103 Greendale Road In The City Of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama Consisting Of Approximately 0.34 Acres, More Or Less (“Property”) And 

Authorizing And Directing The Mayor And City Manager To Execute And Deliver Said The 

Contract And Any And All Other Documents Necessary To Close The Sale Pursuant To The 

Terms, Provisions And Conditions Of Said Contract   (public hearing) 

10. Ordinance Number 2906 – Rezoning – 3122, 3128, 3134, and 3136 Sunview Drive; Rezone 

from Vestavia Hills B-2, Inst, Agriculture to Vestavia Hills B-1.2.  Thomas Holdings, Owners 

(public hearing) 

11. Ordinance Number 2908 –An Ordinance Adopting And Enacting Procedures And 

Requirements For Unclaimed Property For The City Of Vestavia Hills Police Department And 

Municipal Court   (public hearing) 

New Business 

12. Resolution Number 5218 – Alcohol License – Publix Alabama LLC D/B/A Publix Alabama 

1692; For A 050 – Retail Beer (Off-Premises) And 070- Retail Table Wine (Off-Premises); 

Joseph Dibenedetto Jr., Et Al, Executive    (public hearing) 

13. Resolution Number 5219 – Alcohol License – Rajajit Hotel LLC d/b/a Hilton Garden Inn 

Birmingham Liberty Park; For A 020 – Restaurant Retail Liquor (On-Premises); Kishor Desai, 

Et Al, Executive    (public hearing) 

14. Resolution Number 5220 – A Resolution Accepting A Bid For A Heavy Rescue Truck For The 

Vestavia Hills Fire Department 



15. Ordinance Number 2914 – An Ordinance Authorizing The Mayor And The City Manager To 

Execute And Deliver A Joint Purchasing Agreement With The Vestavia Hills Board Of 

Education For Paving Services For The Board 

New Business (Requesting Unanimous Consent) 

First Reading (No Action To Be Taken At This Meeting) 

16. Ordinance Number 2915 – An Ordinance To Approve An Assignment And Assumption Of 

Agreement And A Sales Contract For A Right-Of-Way Purchase Of Real Estate Situated At 

3995-3103 Greendale Road In The City Of Vestavia Hills, Alabama Consisting Of 

Approximately 0.34 Acres, More Or Less (“Property”) And Authorizing And Directing The 

Mayor And City Manager To Execute And Deliver Said The Contract And Any And All Other 

Documents Necessary To Close The Sale And/Or Conveyance Pursuant To The Terms, 

Provisions And Conditions Of Said Agreement   (public hearing) 

17. Citizens Comments 

18. Motion for Adjournment 

 



City Council Minutes 
January 13, 2020 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

JANUARY 13, 2020 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 6:00 PM, 
following publication and posting pursuant to Alabama law.  Mayor Curry called the meeting to 
order and the City Clerk called the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:    Mayor Ashley C. Curry  

Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
Kimberly Cook, Councilor 
Paul Head, Councilor 

      George Pierce, Councilor 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Melvin Turner, Finance Director 
      George Sawaya, Asst. Finance Director 
      Danny Rary, Police Chief 
      Jason Hardin, Police Captain 
      Umang Patel, Court Director 
      Marvin Green, Fire Chief 
      Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
      Joanie Alfano, Admin. Asst. to the Mayor 
      Cinnamon McCulley, Communications Director 
 

Butch Williams; Vestavia Hills Senior Chaplain, led the invocation followed by the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION  
 

 Mrs. Cook stated that today, she enjoyed attending the opening of the new Vestavia Hills 
Surgical Center, Dr. Swaid Swaid’s new building, located across Montgomery Highway 
from the City Hall.  She stated it is a wonderful facility and the opening was attended by 
many dignitaries. 

 Mr. Pierce stated that the Chamber of Commerce will be installing new officers tomorrow 
with John Henley coming in as Chairman.  He stated that, on Thursday, the Chamber will 
have their annual retreat and will formulate a list to be again send two Board member 
representatives to the City Council meetings. 



City Council Minutes 
January 13, 2020 

Page 2 
 

 The Mayor stated he will be meeting with the Attorney General tomorrow down in 
Montgomery relative to human trafficking.  He explained that the City is working to 
become a Human TraffickingFree Zone.  

 Mr. Weaver echoed Mrs. Cook’s comments about the new Surgery Center and that he will 
be joining the Mayor tomorrow in Montgomery. 

 Mr. Head welcomed Parks and Recreation Board President, Kirk McCulley to the meeting 
along with Past Board President, Anne Smyth. 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF RECOGNITION – JULIE HARPER 
 
 The Mayor presented to Julie Harper, Vestavia Hills Civic Activities Coordinator, a 
Certificate of Recognition for her 32 years of municipal service.  Mr. Downes read the Certificate 
aloud and the Mayor presented it to her with Brian Davis, Public Services Director and Kirk 
McCulley, Parks and Recreation Board President. 
 
 Mr. Davis and Mr. McCulley thanked Mrs. Harper for all her years and her services to the 
citizens of the City.    
 
 

PROCLAMATION – HUMAN TRAFFICKING AWARENESS MONTH 
 
 The Mayor presented a proclamation designating January as “Human Trafficking 
Awareness Month.”  Mr. Downes read the proclamation and the Mayor presented it to Barbara 
Fowler and Christy Peters. 
 
 Mrs. Fowler thanked the Mayor and City Council and for the City’s participation in being 
the first City to declare as a Human TraffickingFree zone. 
 
 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

 Mr. Downes announced gave an update on the Infrastructure and Community Spaces 
projects.  He stated that they are been working with design professionals in order to soon 
put out bids for the East Street Sidewalks.  He stated there was a productive meeting this 
afternoon with businesses affected along Cahaba Heights Road and the residents along 
Mountainview Road in order to begin to bring together designs for sidewalk projects.  He 
announced that Matt Gilmore on East Street; Bill Visintainer on Mountainview and 
Katherine McCree on Cahaba Heights Road all will act as representatives for their 
respective neighborhood on each project. 

 Mr. Downes addressed a right-in and right-out intersection improvement on that was 
installed Gentilly Drive/Columbiana Road intersection last week.  He indicated that the 
City did not permit or pay for that installation.  It was a project by the school system to 
follow the direction of their traffic engineer in coordination with Jefferson County traffic 
engineering.  Our staff has had conversations with the County and Mr. Downes stated he 
has spoken to school officials to ensure that they have future forewarning of any further 



City Council Minutes 
January 13, 2020 

Page 3 
 

infrastructure changes made in school construction zones.  He explained that there will 
not be a cuing of school carpool on Gentilly. 

o Mrs. Cook stated she spoke to Jim Sharp, former Councilmember, who indicated 
that the School Board and Superintendent has been working with the residents to 
help to alleviate concerns and problems with the installation of this intersection 
and the improvements along with the traffic of Linda Vista. 

o Mr. Pierce stated he found out about this on social media and went and viewed the 
improvements.  He indicated that it concerns him that this was done without 
notification to the City.  He believes that the City and the residents deserve more 
forewarning of this type of improvement. 

 
 

COUNCILOR REPORTS 
 

 Mr. Pierce stated that Chamber will install officers tomorrow and Thursday will be the 
Chamber’s retreat.  He stated that he will report back after the retreat. 

 
 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 
 Mr. Turner presented the financial reports for month ending December 2019.  He read and 
explained the balances.  He explained that the ad valorem taxes are still sluggish due to the 
protests filed by residents regarding this year’s assessment. 
 
 Mrs. Cook stated that the Board of Education also mentioned the lag in receipt of ad 
valorem taxes. 
 
 Discussion ensued and Mr. Pierce stated he has heard that some appeals were approved 
and some were denied.  Mr. Turner stated that they are showing an 8 percent increase, just not the 
forecasted 10 percent. 
 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for approval of the following minutes: December 9, 2019 
(Regular Meeting), December 16, 2019 (Work Session) and December 16, 2019 (Regular 
Meeting). 
 
MOTION Motion to approve the minutes of the December 9, 2019 (Regular Meeting), 

December 16, 2019 (Work Session) and December 16, 2019 (Regular Meeting) 
was by Mrs. Cook, seconded by Mr. Weaver.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes    Mr. Head – yes  
   Mr. Pierce – yes    Mr. Weaver – yes  
   Mayor Curry – yes     motion carried. 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
January 13, 2020 

Page 4 
 

OLD BUSINESS  
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5216 
 

Resolution Number 5216 - A Resolution Authorizing A Special Economic Development 
Agreement By The City Of Vestavia Hills, Alabama And Maddox 
Enterprises, LP   (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5216 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mr. 

Pierce.  
 
 Mr. Downes stated that this Council has previously approved an outline of a deal that is 
transpiring on a piece of property on Montgomery Highway owned by the Maddox family.  He 
stated they believe that this will set the stage for future improvements along that corridor. He 
stated that approval of this will waive a portion of the $75,000 lien on this property in order to 
allow a subdivision of the property and ½ of the property to be sold for development of a 
restaurant.  This will also include an agreement to restrict the use of the remaining property to no 
temporary businesses. 
 
 Walter Barrino, developer, was present in regard to this request along with owners Larry 
Maddox and Richard Maddox Jr. 
 
 Larry Maddox expressed appreciation for the assistance in bringing this to fruition. 
 
 Discussion ensued relative to the existing Waffle House on Columbiana Road, the leasing 
of that building, the size planned for the new building, etc. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.   There being no one to further address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question.  Roll call vote as 
follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5217 
 

Resolution Number 5217 – A Resolution Appointing A Member To The Jefferson-Blount-
St. Clair Mental Health Authority Board 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5217 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mr. 

Pierce.  
 



City Council Minutes 
January 13, 2020 

Page 5 
 

 The Mayor stated that Vestavia Hills has worked for many years with the JBS Mental 
Health Authority and they have invited a Board member to represent the City.  For the past several 
years, the City has had a representative who recently retired.  His name was Dr. Bob Terry.  The 
Mayor recommended Dr. Bill Brunson, the Senior Pastor of the Vestavia Hills United Methodist 
Church to serve on this Board. 
 
 There being no one to further address the Council, the Mayor called for the question.  Roll 
call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2907 
 

Ordinance Number 2907 – An Ordinance Accepting A Request For Proposal For The Sale 
Of Concessions To Patrons At City Recreational Facilities And Authorizing 
The Mayor And City Manager To Execute And Deliver An Agreement With 
FH Concession Group For The Sale Of Concessions To Patrons At City 
Recreational Facilities 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2907 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mr. 

Pierce.  
 
 Mr. Davis stated that Trenton Turner previously handled this for the City but he recently 
passed away.  This concessionaire filled in during this process and did an outstanding job.  This 
was approved by the park board. 
 
 There being no one to further address the Council, the Mayor called for the question.  Roll 
call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes 
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes 
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

NEW BUSINESS (UNANIMOUS CONSENT REQUESTED) 
 
 
FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 
 The Mayor announced that the following resolutions and/or ordinances will be presented 
at a public hearing at the Council’s regular meeting on January 27, 2020, at 6:00 PM. 

 Ordinance Number 2905 – An Ordinance To Approve A Contract To Purchase The 
Real Estate And Improvements Situated At 3995-3103 Greendale Road In The City Of 
Vestavia Hills, Alabama Consisting Of Approximately 0.34 Acres, More Or Less 



City Council Minutes 
January 13, 2020 

Page 6 
 

(“Property”) And Authorizing And Directing The Mayor And City Manager To 
Execute And Deliver Said The Contract And Any And All Other Documents Necessary 
To Close The Sale Pursuant To The Terms, Provisions And Conditions Of Said 
Contract   (public hearing) 

 Ordinance Number 2906 – Rezoning – 3122, 3128, 3134, and 3136 Sunview Drive; 
Rezone from Vestavia Hills B-2, Inst, Agriculture to Vestavia Hills B-1.2.  Thomas 
Holdings, Owners (public hearing) 

 Ordinance Number 2908 –An Ordinance Adopting And Enacting Procedures And 
Requirements For Unclaimed Property For The City Of Vestavia Hills Police 
Department And Municipal Court   (public hearing) 

 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
 Daniel and Janet Rubio, 1633 Gentilly Drive, stated that the recent improvements 
previously described on Gentilly Drive are located directly in front of their home.  They explained 
there was no communication given to them at all before installation of this concrete barrier and 
they are concerned that with these improvements, it’ll take longer for emergency services to reach 
them and it also take longer for them to get to work or anywhere that requires a left turn. 
 
 Mrs. Cook clarified that Mr. Sharp reported that he didn’t know about this concrete 
improvement, only of other improvements of the school construction and that he’s been working 
with area residents in regard to those improvements. 
 
 Mr. Pierce stated that he would like to know why the County wanted this improvement 
since peak times were only in the morning and afternoon.  He stated he would like to know the 
reasoning and maybe revisit it when school begins there. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that the City is not in control of the situation but he will go back and 
see about getting the traffic engineers and have facilitate these conversations. 
 
 Mr. Brady stated that the reason of the placement is the signal on Columbiana road is 
moving closer to Gentilly Drive which didn’t leave sufficient space needed for stacking.  He 
stated that their department recognized that the improvement would be made at some point in the 
future, but didn’t know when it would be installed. 
 
 Mr. Weaver stated it needs to be readdressed with the County and the City will facilitate 
that conversation according to Mr. Downes. 
 
 David Harwell, 1803 Catala Road, stated that these residents are family.  He stated that 
he promptly sent emails on this situation and appreciated the prompt responses.  However, there 
was no transparency on these improvements or this project.  He stated that there was transparency 
along Gresham and other areas but this improvement got zero information and zero transparency.  
He stated that this can be changed.  He added that there will be a cue line in front of their house 
when school begins at this location. 



City Council Minutes 
January 13, 2020 

Page 7 
 

 
 Donald Harwell, 1357 Willoughby Road, indicated that Mr. Downes said there was no 
Vestavia money funding this project.   
 
 Mr. Downes clarified that the City spent no money on this project. It was funded by the 
Board of Education. 
 
 Mr. Harwell pointed out that is still taxpayer money. 
 
 
 At 6:49 PM, Mrs. Cook made a motion to adjourn.  The meeting adjourned at 6:50 PM. 
 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Ordinance No. 2905 
Page 1 

 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2905 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO APPROVE A CONTRACT TO PURCHASE THE 
REAL ESTATE AND IMPROVEMENTS SITUATED AT 3995-3103 
GREENDALE ROAD IN THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 0.34 ACRES, MORE OR LESS 
(“PROPERTY”) AND AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE MAYOR 
AND CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE AND DELIVER SAID THE 
CONTRACT AND ANY AND ALL OTHER DOCUMENTS NECESSARY 
TO CLOSE THE SALE PURSUANT TO THE TERMS, PROVISIONS 
AND CONDITIONS OF SAID CONTRACT.   

 
THIS ORDINANCE NUMBER 2905 is approved and adopted by the City Council of 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama on this the 27th day of January, 2020. 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has negotiated with the owner of the real estate and 

improvements situated at 3995-3103 Greendale Road in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

consisting of approximately 0.34± acres (the “Property”) for the possible purchase of said 

Property by the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (“City”); and 

 WHEREAS, if the City purchases the Property, then in such event the City Manager 

recommends that: 

 (1) Approximately 0.02± acres be used for an in progress public works project to 

widen Crosshaven Road (“project to widen Crosshaven Road”); and 

 (2) The balance of the Property be sold to another party; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Attorney has prepared an Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real 

Estate (“Agreement”) setting forth the terms, provisions and conditions of the negotiations and 

recommendation by the City Manager for consideration by the City Council; and 

 WHEREAS, a copy of the Agreement is attached hereto, marked as Exhibit A and is 

incorporated into this Ordinance Number 2905 by reference as though set out fully herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Agreement attached hereto and marked as Exhibit A is incorporated in its 

entirety into this Ordinance Number 2905 by reference as though set out fully herein. 

2. The Agreement is hereby approved by the City Council. 



Ordinance No. 2905 
Page 2 

 
 
 3. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized and directed to execute and 

deliver the Agreement for and on behalf of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 4. The City Council hereby authorizes and directs the City Manager to execute any 

and all other documents necessary to close the purchase and sale of the Property pursuant to the 

terms, provisions and conditions of the Agreement attached hereto.  In addition, the City Manager 

is hereby authorized to make editorial revisions and corrections that do not substantially change 

said Agreement. 

5. If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be held unconstitutional 

or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the 

remainder of this ordinance, which shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such 

holding. 

6. This Ordinance Number 2905 shall become effective upon its approval, adoption, 

enactment and publication by posting as set forth in Title 11-45-8(b), Code of Alabama, 1975.  

DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED on this the 27th day of January, 

2020. 

 
      CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
 
 
 
      By __________________________________ 
       Ashley C. Curry 

Mayor 
ATTESTED BY 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance No. 2905 
Page 3 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby certify 
that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance #2905 is a true and correct copy of such 
Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills on the 27th 
day of January, 2020 as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills New Merkle House, Vestavia 
Hills Civic Center and Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest this the 28th day of January, 2020. 
 
 
    
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 



STATE OF ALABAMA 

JEFFERSON COUNTY 

AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE OF REAL ESTATE 

THIS AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE OF REAL ESTATE (“the 
Agreement”), is hereby made and entered into as of the ____ day of January, 2020 by and between 
Nonidez Properties, an Alabama General Partnership (hereinafter referred to as “Seller”), and the 
City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Purchaser”).   

WITNESS THESE RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the Seller owns real estate and improvements situated at 3095-3103 Greendale 
Road in the City of Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, (hereinafter referred to as 
“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Property consists of approximately 0.34 acres ± (being approximately 
14,790 square feet) and is more particularly in that certain Deed dated September 30, 1982, which 
said Deed was filed in the office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, Alabama on 
September 30, 1982 and recorded at Real 2244, Page 906, described as follows: 

That part of the Southeast Quarter of Southeast Quarter (SE¼ of 
SE¼) of Section 15, Township 18, South, Range 2 West, bounded by 
and lying within the following described boundary lines, viz: Begin 
at the Northwest corner of said Southeast Quarter of Southeast 
Quarter of said Section and run thence Eastwardly along the North 
boundary line thereof for a distance of Seventy-five (75) feet; thence 
Southwardly and parallel with the West boundary of said Southeast 
Quarter of Southeast Quarter of said Section for a distance of One 
Hundred forty-five (145) feet; thence Westwardly and parallel with 
the North boundary of said Southeast Quarter of Southeast Quarter of 
said Section a distance of Seventy-five (75) feet to a point on the 
West boundary of said Southeast Quarter of Southeast Quarter of said 
Section; thence Northwardly along said West boundary of said 
Southeast Quarter of Southeast Quarter of said Section a distance of 
one hundred forty-five (145) feet to the point of beginning. 

WHEREAS, Seller derived title to the Property by virtue of that certain Deed dated 
September 30, 1982,which said deed was filed in the office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson 
County, Alabama on September 30, 1982 and recorded at Real 2244, Page 906; and 

WHEREAS, Purchaser (City) is actively engaged in a public works project to widen 
Crosshaven Road known as “Project to Widen Crosshaven Road” (hereinafter referred to as 
“Project”); and 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 2 
 
 

 

 WHEREAS, Purchaser needs to acquire a portion of Seller’s property in order to construct 
and complete the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the portion of Seller’s property needed by Purchaser for public access purposes 
shall hereinafter be referred to as “public access area”, and 
 
  (i) consists of approximately 0.02± acres (being approximately 909 square feet);  
 
  (ii) is shown on Exhibit 1, which is attached hereto and incorporated into this 
Agreement by reference as though set out fully herein;  
 
  (iii) is more particularly described in Exhibit 2, which is attached hereto and 
incorporated into this Agreement by reference as though set out fully herein. 
 
 WHEREAS, Purchaser has the legal authority to condemn and take the public access area 
under the power of eminent domain pursuant to the Alabama Eminent Domain Code set forth in 
Title 18-1A-1, et seq., Code of Alabama, 1975; and 
 
 WHEREAS, John E. Hall, III, MAI appraised the Property to have the following fair market 
values as of April 11, 2019: 
 
  Fair Market Value of the Property    $500,000.00 
  Fair Market Value less the public access area  $384,846.00 
  Fair Market Value of the public access area   $115,154.00; and 
 
 WHEREAS, W. Paulk Turner, MAI appraised the property and opined that the fair market 
value of the property was Four Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars ($420,000.00) as of April 7, 
2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, municipalities in Alabama have the legal authority to acquire real estate by 
purchase pursuant to Title 11-40-1, Code of Alabama, 1975; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council (“City Council”) of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (a 
municipal corporation (the “City”) hereby finds and determines that it prefers to purchase the 
Property pursuant to this Agreement rather than to condemn said Property and acquire it by eminent 
domain; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that the purchase by the City of the real 
estate and improvements for the property located at 3095-3103 Greendale Road hereinafter 
described in Section 3 will promote the health, safety and general welfare of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Ordinance Number 2905 will be introduced by a first reading at the 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 3 
 
 

 

regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council on January 13, 2020 and considered for approval by 
the City Council at its regularly scheduled meeting on January 27, 2020 pursuant to the procedure 
for adoption of an ordinance set forth at Title 11-45-2(b), Code of Alabama, 1975; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Alabama Open Meetings Act set forth at Title 36-25A-7(a)(7), Code of 
Alabama, 1975, provides that the material terms of a contract to purchase real property shall be 
disclosed in a public meeting prior to the execution of the contract; and 
 
 WHEREAS, only the City Council by the enactment of an ordinance or resolution can 
authorize and direct the execution and delivery of a contract for and on behalf of the municipality 
(Van Antwerp, et al v. Board of Commissions of City of Mobile, et al, 217 Ala. 201, 115 So. 239 
(1928); and Town of Boligee v. Greene County Water and Sewer Authority, 77 So.3d 1166 (2011)); 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, Title 11-47-5, Code of Alabama, 1975, reads as follows: 
 

 “Contracts entered into by a municipality shall be in writing, 
signed and executed in the name of the city or town by the officers 
authorized to make the same and by the party contracting.  In cases 
not otherwise directed by law or ordinance, such contracts shall be 
entered into and executed by the mayor in the name of the city or 
town and all obligations for the payment of money by the 
municipality, except for bonds and interest coupons, shall be attested 
by the clerk.  This section shall not be construed to cover purchases 
for ordinary needs of the municipality;” and 
 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43-21(b)(7), Code of Alabama, 1975, requires the City Manager to 
sign all lawful contracts on behalf of the municipality and reads as follows: 
 

 “(b) The City Manager shall have the power and it shall be 
his duty:... 
  (7) To make and execute all lawful contracts on 
behalf of the municipality as to matters within the jurisdiction; 
provided, that no contract, purchase or obligation involving more 
than $100.00 shall be binding until after the approval by the 
governing body.”; and 
 

 WHEREAS, the City will own and keep title to the public access area depicted on Exhibit 1 
and more particularly described in Exhibit 2 and use said public access area for the construction and 
completion of the Project; and 
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 4 
 
 

 

 WHEREAS, municipalities in Alabama cannot engage in private enterprise (Edmonson v. 
State Indus. Dev. Auth., 279 Ala. 206, 184 So.2d 115; Board of Rev. & Road v. Puckett, 227 Ala. 
374; Opinion of Justices No. 269, 384 So.2d 1051; and Opinion of Justices No. 261, 373 So.2d 290); 
and 
 

 WHEREAS, Alabama law at Title 11-43-56, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the City 
Council shall have the management and control of the finances and all of the property, real and 
personal, belonging to the City; and 

 
 WHEREAS, Title 11-47-20, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the City Council may, by 
ordinance to be entered on its minutes, direct the disposal of any real property not needed for public 
or municipal purposes and direct the mayor to make title thereto, and a conveyance made by the 
mayor in accordance with such ordinance invests the grantee with the title of the municipality; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills City Council hereby finds and determines that the balance of 
the Property (after carving out the public access area) is not needed for public purposes and that the 
said balance of Property shall be sold at a later date, which said balance of property is shown on 
Exhibit 3 and more particularly described in Exhibit 4, which said Exhibits are attached hereto and 
incorporated into this Agreement by reference as though set out fully herein. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual covenants hereinafter 
contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto, Seller and Purchaser hereby mutually covenant and 
agree as follows: 
 
 1. RECITALS:  The recitals set forth in the premises above are hereby incorporated 
into this Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate (“Agreement”) by reference as though set 
out fully herein. 
 
 2. PURCHASE AND SALE.  For and in consideration of One and No/100 Dollars 
($1.00) in hand paid by Purchaser to Seller and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by Seller, Seller agrees to sell and Purchaser 
agrees to purchase all (and not less than all) of the Property for the Purchase Price (as defined 
below) and on the terms, provisions and conditions hereinafter set forth. 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 5 
 
 

 

 
 3. PROPERTY.  The Property is situated at 3095-3103 Glendale Road in the City of 
Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama.  The legal description of the Property to be conveyed by 
Seller to Purchaser has been determined by the survey as required by and described in Section 8 of 
this Agreement. 
 
 The Property is shown on the Survey prepared by Gonzalez-Strength & Associates, Inc., 
which is attached hereto, marked as Exhibit 5 and incorporated into this Agreement by reference as 
though set out fully herein.  The legal description of the Property as shown on said Survey is set 
forth on Exhibit 6, which is attached hereto and incorporated into this Agreement by reference as 
though set out fully herein. 
 
 4. PURCHASE PRICE.  The purchase price for all of the Property shall be Four 
Hundred Forty Thousand Dollars ($440,000.00) (the “Purchase Price”).   
 
 5. PAYMENT OF PURCHASE PRICE.  The payment of the Purchase Price shall be 
paid by the Purchaser to the Seller as follows: 
 
  A. EARNEST MONEY (“THE EARNEST MONEY”):  Earnest Money in the amount 
of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) shall be paid by Purchaser concurrently with the execution 
and delivery of this Agreement.  The Earnest Money shall be paid to Land Title Company of 
Alabama, Inc. (“title company”), 600 – 20th Street North in the City of Birmingham, Alabama 
35203. The title company shall deposit said earnest money in an interest-bearing account and pay the 
same to the Seller at closing.  If Purchaser terminates the Purchase Agreement during the Inspection 
Period or for failure of any of the contingencies listed below to be satisfied prior to the Closing, the 
Earnest Money will be returned to Purchaser in full. 
 
  B. CASH ON CLOSING THIS SALE:  The entire remaining balance of the Purchase 
Price in the amount of Four Hundred Thirty Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($430,000.00) shall be 
paid to Seller by Purchaser in cash or immediately available funds at closing.   
 
 6. CLOSING AND CLOSING DATE.   Subject to the terms, provisions and 
conditions of this Agreement, the closing of the sale and purchase of the Property (the “Closing”) 
shall occur on or before the date that is fifteen (15) days after the expiration of the Inspection Period 
or earlier at Purchaser’s election, as hereinafter defined (the “Closing Date”). 
 
 7. CONVEYANCE.   Seller agrees to convey the Property to Purchaser by statutory 
warranty deed (the “Deed”) at the Closing, subject to the Permitted Exceptions (as herein defined). 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 6 
 
 

 

 
 
 8. SURVEY.   Purchaser selected Gonzalez-Strength & Associates, Inc. (“Surveyor”) to 
prepare the legal description of the Property to be conveyed prior to the execution and delivery of 
this Agreement.  The Surveyor completed the Survey on October 2, 2019 and delivered copies to 
Seller and Purchaser.  The Surveyor prepared Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 as follows: 
 
     Exhibit No.                Description 
 
  6  Legal description of Property to be conveyed by Seller to Purchaser. 
 
  5  Boundary Survey of Property to be conveyed by Seller to Purchaser. 
 
  1  Boundary Survey of public access area to be used by the Purchaser in 
    the “Project to Widen Crosshaven Road.” 
 
  2  Legal description of public access area to be used by the Purchaser in 
    the “Project to Widen Crosshaven Road.” 
 
  3  Boundary Survey of the balance of the Property (Property less and  
    except the public access area to be sold to a third party). 
 
  4  Legal description of the balance of the Property (Property less and  
    except the public access area to be sold to a third party). 
 
 Both Seller and Purchaser accept and approve the Survey prepared by Surveyor. 
 
 9. TITLE INSURANCE.   Seller shall, within thirty (30) days after the Effective Date, 
secure a title commitment (the “Title Commitment”) naming Purchaser as the proposed insured on a 
Chicago Title Insurance Company Standard Form Owners Policy issued by Land Title Company of 
Alabama, Inc. as agent for Chicago Title Insurance Company (the “Title Agent”) for the Property 
described in Section 3 (Exhibit 6) hereof in the amount of the Purchase Price (the “Title Policy”) 
subject to the following permitted exceptions (a) easements, covenants and other encumbrances of 
record, (b) mineral and mining rights not owned by Seller, (c) matters that would be disclosed by a 
current survey of the Property.  Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the 
Property to be conveyed at closing shall be free and clear of any mortgage indebtedness or other 
liens. 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 7 
 
 

 

 10. INSPECTIONS:  Purchaser, or Purchaser’s representatives, shall have the right to 
enter the Property for the purpose of inspection of the same, and/or making boundary line and 
topographical surveys of the same, and/or making soil tests thereon, and/or in general observing and 
investigating the condition of the Property.  Purchaser agrees to indemnify Seller from and against 
any liability that results from Purchaser performing any of its inspections as provided herein, and 
such indemnity shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 
 
 11. INSPECTION PERIOD:  Purchaser shall have a period of one hundred twenty 
(120) days following the effective date of this Agreement (“Inspection Period”) to determine, either 
personally or through or with a representative of Purchaser’s choosing, any and all conditions of the 
Property (including without limitation the condition of all improvements thereon) material to 
Purchaser’s decision to purchase the Property.  The determination shall include, without limitation, 
Purchaser satisfying itself as to title matters, soil testing, survey matters, structural matters, zoning 
matters, subdivision regulations, engineering and site planning, environmental matters, specifically 
including, but not limited to Phase I ESA, existing contracts and financial matters affecting the 
Property, all soil, landscaping and other physical conditions of the Property, availability and 
sufficient quantities of all utilities, and all additional matters that Purchaser believes relevant, in its 
sole and absolute discretion, in determining whether or not to purchase the Property.  Purchaser, at 
Purchaser’s sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, shall have the right and option to cancel this 
Agreement by giving written notice of termination to Seller no later than the last day of the 
Inspection Period, in which the right and option to cancel this Agreement by giving written notice of 
termination to Seller no later than the last day of the Inspection Period, in which event this 
Agreement shall be of no further force or affect except for any indemnity or other obligations that 
expressly survive, and the Earnest Money shall be refunded to Purchaser.  If Purchaser cancels and 
terminates this Agreement prior to the expiration of the Inspection Period, then in such event the 
Earnest Money (held in escrow by the Title Company) shall be refunded by the Seller to Purchaser 
in full and this Agreement shall be cancelled, null and void. 
 
 12. ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS:  Seller has no actual knowledge that the 
Property has in the past been used or is presently used for the handling, storage, manufacturing, 
refining, transportation or disposal of “toxic material”, “hazardous substances” or “hazardous 
waste”.  The terms “hazardous waste”, “hazardous substances” and “toxic material” include, without 
limitation, any flammable explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous materials, hazardous wastes, 
hazardous or toxic substances or related materials defined in the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (42 USC §960, et seq.), the 
Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended (42 USC §1801, et seq.), the Resource 
Conversation and Recovery Act, as amended (42 USC §9601, et seq.), the regulations adopted and 
publications promulgated pursuant to the foregoing and any other federal, state or local 
environmental law, ordinance, rule or regulation.  Furthermore, Seller has not received a summons, 
citation, directive, letter or other communication, written or oral, from any governmental authority as 
to any of the above environmental concerns.   
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 8 
 
 

 

 13. CONDITION OF PROPERTY:  Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that: 
 
  A. Seller has not made and does not make any covenant, representation of 
warranty, either expressed or implied, regarding the physical condition of the Property or any 
portion thereof, the suitability of the Property for any particular purpose or use whatsoever, utility 
availability for the Property, whether the Property is subject to surface or subsurface contamination 
by toxic or hazardous waste or with respect to any other matters affecting the Property or 
Purchaser’s contemplated use thereof; 
 
  B. Purchaser has been given the absolute and unfettered right during the 
Inspection Period to conduct such Inspections of the Property as Purchaser, in its sole discretion, 
may determine necessary in order to satisfy itself of all conditions and other aspects of the Property; 
and 
 
  C. Purchaser has available to it such resources, expertise, consultants and 
advisors so that it can make a sound and reasonable judgment as to the condition of the Property as 
well as to all economic conditions, suitability requirements and all other matters affecting the use, 
development and ownership of the Property.  Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that the Property is 
to be sold and conveyed to, and accepted by, Purchaser in its present condition, “AS IS, WHERE IS 
AND WITH ALL FAULTS,” and Purchaser hereby assumes the risk that adverse physical 
characteristics and existing conditions may have not been revealed by the Inspections. 
 
 14. EXISTING DOCUMENTS, SURVEY AND TITLE INSURANCE:  Within ten 
(10) days following the Effective Date of this Agreement, the Seller agrees to provide Purchaser, at 
Seller’s expense, and no later than 5:00 p.m. (Birmingham, Alabama time) on said date copies of all 
existing surveys, existing title insurance policies, existing environmental reports, and other 
documentation in any way relating to the Property that are in the possession of the Seller or the 
Seller’s agents.  The documents shall also include, but not be limited to, the following: 
 
  A. Rent roll. 
 
  B. Description of items tenant pays for and what owner pays for. 
 
  C. Copies of leases. 
 
  D. List of tenant deposits, if any, that owner may be liable to return. 
 
  E. Utility deposits. 
 
  F. Any capital improvements and significant repairs. 
 
  G. Age of roof, HVAC equipment, appliances. 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 9 
 
 

 

 
  H. Copies of all contracts and service agreements: not limited to dumpster, 
landscaping, property management and cable/internet.  A representation that no other binding 
contracts/agreements exist that have not been provided. 
 
  I. Prior three (3) years income statement and balance sheet, including year to 
date financials. 
 
  J. List of any property policies and rules. 
 
  K. Any parking agreements with tenants. 
 
  L. Property tax assessments and notices. 
 
  M. Certificate of insurance and five year loss runs. 
 
  N. Representation language in contract that there are no pending lawsuits. 
 
  O. Copy of any existing surveys. 
 
  P. Representation that all owner liabilities, including mortgages, if any, will be 
satisfied on or before closing.   
 
 15. CLOSING COSTS:  The Closing shall be held at the Vestavia Hills Municipal 
Center located at 1032 Montgomery Highway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  The closing attorney shall 
be Patrick H. Boone. 
 
  A. CLOSING COSTS FOR SELLER:  The Seller shall pay the following costs: 
 
   (1) Title insurance premium. 
   (2) Legal fee to Seller’s attorney, if any. 
 
  B. CLOSING COSTS FOR PURCHASER:  The Purchaser shall pay the following 
closing costs: 
   (1) The fee for recording the deed, if any. 
   (2) Legal fee to Purchaser’s attorney. 
   (3) Cost of due diligence during Inspection Period. 
   (4) Financing costs, if any. 
   (5) Cost of surveying the Property. 
 
 16. TAXES:  The ad valorem taxes shall be prorated as of the date of closing. 
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 10 
 
 

 

 17. ASSIGNMENT:  Purchaser may assign this Agreement or any of its rights hereunder 
without the express written consent of Seller.   
 
 18. POSSESSION:  Possession of the Property shall be given on the Closing Date. 
 
 19. BROKER:  None. 
 
  A. PURCHASER:  The Purchaser is not represented in this contemplated 
transaction by any real estate broker/agent. 
 
  B. SELLER:  The Seller is not represented in this contemplated transaction by any 
real estate broker/agent. 
 
 20. NOTICES:  All notices and demands to be given or made hereunder shall be in 
writing and shall be given by (i) personal or hand delivery, (ii) nationally recognized express 
overnight delivery service (with charges therefor prepaid, or (iii) certified or registered mail, return 
receipt requested (with postage therefor prepaid).  Notices shall be deemed received upon (a) receipt, 
if hand or personally delivered, (b) the next business day after the notice has been deposited with a 
nationally recognized express overnight delivery service, or (the third business day after the notice 
has been deposited with the United States Postal Service.  Notices shall be provided to the parties at 
the follow addresses: 
 

IF TO SELLER:   Bill Nonidez 
    Nonidez Properties 
    c/o Terry Gloor, Esq. 
    200 Century Park South, Suite 114 
    Birmingham, Alabama  35226 
    Telephone No. (205) 913-3567 
    E-mail:  tgloor@gloorlawfirm.com  
 
 
 
IF TO PURCHASER:  Jeffrey D. Downes, City Manager 
    Vestavia Hills Municipal Center 
    1032 Montgomery Highway 
    Vestavia Hills, Alabama 35216 
    Telephone No.  205-978-0195 
    E-Mail:  jdownes@vhal.org  

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 11 
 
 

 

 
With copies to:  Patrick H. Boone 
    215 Richard Arrington Jr., Blvd. N., Suite 705  
    Birmingham, Alabama 35203-3720 
    Telephone No. (205) 324-2018 
    Fax (205) 324-2295 
    Email:  patrickboone@bellsouth.net 
 
IF TO TITLE COMPANY: Land Title Company of Alabama 
    600 North 20th Street, Suite 100 
    Birmingham, Alabama 35203 
    Attention:  William F. Miller 
    Telephone No. (205) 251-9280 
    Fax:  (205) 226-9280 
    Email:  wfm@land-title.net  

 
 Either party hereto may change the address to which it is to receive notice or the 
representative to whom notice is to be given by written notice to the other part in the manner set 
forth above. 
 
 21. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES: 
 
  A. In the event that Seller shall fail to consummate the transaction as 
contemplated herein for any reason other than Purchaser’s default, then Purchaser may, as its sole 
and exclusive remedy, either (i) enforce this Agreement and the purchase and sale transaction 
contemplated herein by specific performance or (ii) terminate this Agreement, whereupon the 
Earnest Money paid to Seller and accrued interest shall be promptly returned to Purchaser, this 
Agreement shall be deemed cancelled and terminated and, except for the indemnification obligations 
of Purchaser set forth in Section 11 above, neither party shall have any further obligation or liability 
to the other hereunder.   
 
  B. If, at any time after the expiration of the Inspection Period, Purchaser shall fail 
to perform its obligation to close the transaction contemplated herein for any reason other than 
Seller’s default, then the Earnest Money shall be delivered to Seller as liquidated damages in which 
event this Agreement shall automatically be deemed terminated and cancelled and, except for the 
indemnification obligations of Purchaser set forth in Section 11 above, neither party shall have any 
further obligation or liability to the other hereunder.  Because of the difficulty, inconvenience and 
uncertainty of ascertaining actual damages, no other damages, rights or remedies shall in any case be 
collectible, enforceable or available to Seller and Seller agrees to accept and retain the Earnest 
Money as its total damages and relief hereunder in the event Purchaser fails to close the purchase 
and sale transaction contemplated herein. 
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 12 
 
 

 

 22. EFFECTIVE DATE:  The “Effective Date” to be inserted on the first page of this 
Agreement is the date upon which this Agreement has been fully executed by Seller and Purchaser 
and each of Seller and Purchaser has received a fully executed original counterpart.  The last party 
executing this Agreement will deliver a fully executed original counterpart to the other party by 
overnight delivery for receipt on the next succeeding business day and will insert the next 
succeeding business day on the first page of all original counterparts of this Agreement. 
 
 23. CONTINGENCIES:  This Agreement is subject to and contingent upon the 
following conditions: 
 
  A. AGREEMENT:  This Agreement is subject to and contingent upon the formal 
approval of the Agreement by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama by duly 
enacted ordinance pursuant to and in accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama.  If this 
condition of approval as aforesaid is not completed, then in such event this Agreement shall 
automatically be terminated and any and all accrued interest shall be refunded to Purchaser. 
 
  B. CLOSING OF SALE:  This closing of the sale contemplated by this Agreement 
is subject to and contingent upon the following conditions: 
 
   1. The execution and delivery of an Agreement for Sale and Purchase of 
Real Estate by and between the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as “Seller,” and a Third Party, as 
“Purchaser,” wherein the Seller agrees to sell and the Purchaser agrees to buy, the property less and 
except the public access area for and in consideration of Three Hundred Four Thousand Eight 
Hundred Forty-six Dollars ($304,846.00) calculated pursuant to the following formula:  
 
    Property  less Public Access Area  =   Purchase Price 
    $420,000.00 - $115,154.00  = $304,846.00 
 
   2. The Agreement referred to in Section 23-B(1) above must be:  
 
    (i)  legally binding upon Purchaser;  
 
    (ii)  with no chance of Purchaser failing to close; and 
 
    (iii) the sale closed simultaneously with the City and Nonidez 
Properties sale (back-to-back). 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 13 
 
 

 

 If the City (as Purchaser herein) fails to close the resale of this Property to a third party 
pursuant to the contingencies set forth in Section 23 above, then in such event the earnest money 
shall be refunded to said City (as Purchaser) and this Agreement shall become null, void, cancelled, 
terminated and of no legal force and effect. 
 
 24. ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF LEASES AND RENTS:  Seller, shall at 
closing, execute legal documents necessary to assign and transfer to the City of Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama (Purchaser herein) all of Seller’s right, title and interest in and to the leases of tenants 
presently occupying the Greendale Apartment building, together with related rents and security 
deposits. 
 
 25. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
  A. GOVERNING LAW:  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the 
parties hereto shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Alabama.  The jurisdiction and venue for the resolution of any dispute shall be in Jefferson County, 
Alabama. 
 
  B. BINDING AGREEMENT:  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 
 
  C. SURVIVAL:  All representations and warranties of this Agreement shall 
survive the Closing, as shall any covenants for performance after Closing. 
 
  D. TIME OF THE ESSENCE:  Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 
 
  E. NO WAIVER:  The failure of either party to exercise any rights under this 
Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of any right, nor excuse the other party’s full performance.  
No express waiver of any matter shall affect any other matter under this Agreement.  Express 
waivers are only effective if in writing. 
 
  F. CONSTRUCTION OF TERMS:  Descriptive headings are for convenience only 
and shall not control or affect the meaning or construction of any provision.  Any ambiguities of this 
Agreement shall be construed fairly and equitably regardless of the participation of either party in 
drafting this Agreement.  The reference in terms to gender and number shall be modified as may be 
appropriate. 
 
  G. SEVERABILITY:  In case of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall for 
any reason be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction in any 
respect, the remaining provisions shall remain in effect and the Agreement be performed in a fair 
and equitable manner as to any uncertainties arising from the unenforceable provisions.   
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 14 
 
 

 

  H. DATES:  If any date provided in this Agreement falls on a Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday, the date shall be the next business day. 
 
  I. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS:  This Agreement may be executed 
simultaneously in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which 
shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 
  J. ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This written Agreement contains the entire agreement 
between the parties, incorporating all prior agreements, and may only be amended in writing 
executed by both parties. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Seller and Purchaser have executed this Agreement to be 
executed as of the date first above written. 
 
SELLER:     NONIDEZ PROPERTIES 
      An Alabama General Partnership 
 
      By _____________________________________ 
       William K. Nonidez 
       Its Managing Partner 
 
 
 
PURCHASER:      THE CITYOF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
      A Municipal Corporation 
  
      By _____________________________________ 
       Ashley C. Curry 
       Mayor 
 
      By _____________________________________ 
       Jeffrey D. Downes 
       City Manager 
ATTESTED: 
                  
 
By___________________________________ 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 15 
 
 

 

STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
                  
 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that William K. Nonidez, whose name as Managing Partner of Nonidez Properties, an 
Alabama General Partnership, is signed to the foregoing Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real 
Estate, and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the 
contents of the Agreement, he/she in his/her capacity as such and with full authority, executed the 
same voluntarily for and as the act of said Nonidez Properties on the day the same bears date. 
                  
 Given under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of January, 2020. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
       Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 
 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
                  
 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Ashley C. Curry, whose name as Mayor of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a 
municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate, 
and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of 
the Agreement, he in his capacity as such and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for 
and as the act of said City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation, on the day the same 
bears date. 
                  
 Given under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of January, 2020. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
       Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 16 

STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Jeffrey D. Downes, whose name as City Manager of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 
a municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate, 
and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of 
the Agreement, he in his capacity as such and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for 
and as the act of said City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation, on the day the same 
bears date. 

Given under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of January, 2020. 

__________________________________________ 
Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2905















Ordinance Number 2906 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2906 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY FROM VESTAVIA HILLS B-
2, INST AND A TO VESTAVIA HILLS B-1.2 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Vestavia Hills B-2 (general 

business district), Inst (institutional district) and A (agricultural district) to Vestavia Hills 

B-1.2 (neighborhood mixed use district):  

3122, 3128, 3134, and 3136 Sunview Drive 
Thomas Holdings, Owners 

 
Real property in the City of Vestavia Hills, County of Jefferson, State of 
Alabama, described as follows:  
 
Parcel I:  Commence at the Southwest corner of the NE 1/4 of the SW 1/4 
of the SE 1/4 of Section 15, Township 18 South Range 2 West, Jefferson 
County, Alabama and run Southerly a distance of 62.40 feet, thence 
117"07'32" to the right and run Northwesterly a distance of 35.25 feet to the 
point of beginning, thence 62"28'34" to the right and run Northerly a 
distance of 45.56 feet, thence 88"30' to the left and run Westerly a distance 
of 92.84 feet, thence 42"29' to the left and run Southwesterly a distance of 
32.36 feet, thence 27"46' to the left and run Southwesterly distance of 32.00 
feet, thence 22"24' to the right and run Southwesterly a distance of 4.53 feet 
to the Northeasterly right of way of Sunview Drive, thence 75"32'15" to the 
left and run Southeasterly along the Northeasterly right of way of Sunview 
Drive a distance of 71.55 feet; thence 4"16'57.5" to the left and run 
Southeasterly along chord of a curve to the left, having a chord distance of 
49.46 feet, a delta angle of 8"33'55", an arc distance 49.50 feet and a radius 
of 331.15 feet: thence 12"01 '22.5" to the left and run Southeasterly along 
the Northeasterly right of way of Sunview Drive a distance of 29. 18 feet; 
thence 132"09'53" to the left and run Northerly a distance of 149.48 feet; 
thence 117"52'54" to the right and run Southeasterly a distance of 49.79 feet 
to the point of beginning.  
 
Parcel II:  A port of land in the SW 1/4 of the SW 1/4 of SE 1/4, Section 15, 
Township 18 South, Range 2 West being more particularly described as 



Ordinance Number 2906 
Page 2 

follows: Commence at the NE corner of SW 1 / 4 of SW 1 / 4 of SE 1 / 4, 
Section 15, Township 18 South, Range 2 West, thence South 62.4 feet for 
a point beginning thence 117"07' right 85 feet; thence 117"0 left 150 feet to 
the right of public road; thence 117"07' left 85 feet along the said right of 
way; thence 117"07' 150 feet point of beginning.  
 
Parcel III:  The South portion of a 20 foot right-of-way of 2nd Avenue 
located in Block 2 of the map according to Glass's Second Addition to New 
Merkle, as recorded in Map Book 28, Page 51, in the office of the Judge of 
Probate, Jefferson County, Alabama, extending from the right-of-way of 
Sunview Drive (Sunset Drive as per map) for a distance of 150 feet along 
the west side of 2nd Avenue and extending from the right-of-way of 
Sunview Drive (Sunset Drive as per map, for a distance of 162. 79 feet along 
the east side of 2nd Avenue.)  All of said property being situated in the SW 
1/4 of the SE 1/4 of Section 15, Township 18 South, Range 2 West, 
Jefferson County, Alabama.  
 
Parcel IV:  Lots 11, 12 & 13, Block 2, according to the Survey of Glass's 
Addition to New Merkle, as recorded in Map Book 28, page 51, in the 
Probate Office of Jefferson County, Alabama, Birmingham Division.. 

 
APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 27th day of January, 2020. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2906 
Page 3 

 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2906 is a true and correct 
copy of such 27th day of January, 2020, as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New Merkle 
House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 
2019. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 

 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2906 
Page 4 

 



1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     DECEMBER 12, 2019

CASE: P-1219-65

REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Vestavia Hills Inst-1, Vestavia Hills A, 
Vestavia Hills B-2 to Vestavia Hills B-1.2

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 3122, 3128, 3134, 3136 Sunview Dr.

APPLICANT/OWNER: Thomas Holdings; Adam Hudson, rep.

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Applicant is seeking to rezone 3122, 3128, 3134, 3136 
Sunview Dr. from Inst-1, Vestavia Hills A, Vestavia Hills B-2 to Vestavia Hills B-1.2
for a salon. The applicant would build a 3,000 sq. ft. building and a 13 lot parking lot.
The building would have a front setback of 13’. Additionally, the applicant will 
construct intersection improvements and build 14 angled on-street parking spaces in 
accordance with the regulations for B-1.2 zoning. The proposed site plan, landscaping 
plan, and rendering and covenants are attached.

CAHABA HEIGHTS COMMUNITY PLAN: The request is consistent with the 
plan for limited mixed use.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning /
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application,
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues
with this request.

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no
issues with this request.

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues
with this request.



2

MOTION Mr. Larson made a motion to recommend Rezoning from Vestavia Hills Inst-1, 
Vestavia Hills A, Vestavia Hills B-2 to Vestavia Hills B-1.2 for the property located At 3122, 
3128, 3134, 3136 Sunview Dr. Second was by Ms. Weaver. Motion was carried on a roll call; 
vote as follows:

Mr. Vercher – yes Mr. Farrell – yes
Mr. Sykes– yes Mr. Larson – yes
Mr. Weaver – yes Mrs. Barnes – yes
Motion carried.































































































8'
 W

id
e 

C
on

cr
et

e
S

id
ew

al
k

8'
 W

id
e 

C
on

cr
et

e
S

id
ew

al
k

P
ro

po
se

d 
B

ui
ld

in
g

3,
00

0 
s.

f.±
F

F
E

:6
37

.8
2

R
25

.0
0

P
ro

vi
de

 H
C

 P
ar

ki
ng

si
gn

 p
er

 A
D

A
 s

pe
cs

P
ro

vi
de

 In
lin

e 
H

C
ra

m
p 

pe
r 

A
D

A
 s

pe
cs

A
sp

ha
lt 

P
av

em
en

t

A
sp

ha
lt 

P
av

em
en

t

A
sp

ha
lt 

P
av

em
en

t

P
ro

po
se

d 
E

as
em

en
t

fo
r 

si
de

w
al

k 
an

d 
pa

rk
in

g
(v

ar
ia

bl
e 

w
id

th
)

P
ro

vi
de

 H
C

 R
am

p 
pe

r
A

D
A

 s
pe

ci
fic

at
io

ns

19
.0

0

24
.0

0

25
.0

0

9.
00

13
.0

0

13
.0

0

14
.3

2

16
.0

0

R
ev

is
io

ns
:

S
he

et
 T

itl
e:

D
at

e:

S
ca

le
:

D
ra

w
in

g:D
ec

em
be

r 
5,

 2
01

9

F
ile

:
19

-1
20

5-
01

E
ng

in
ee

r

1"
=

20
'

C
-1

.0

S
ite

P
la

n





























































































P
ro

po
se

d 
B

ui
ld

in
g

3,
00

0 
s.

f.±
F

F
E

:6
37

.8
2

S
et

 n
ew

 s
to

rm
 m

an
ho

le
at

 e
nd

 o
f e

x.
 p

ip
e

F
L:

62
8.

84

S
et

 n
ew

 s
to

rm
 m

an
ho

le
at

 e
nd

 o
f e

x.
 p

ip
e

R
im

:6
36

.3
0

F
L:

63
3.

78

S
et

 n
ew

 s
to

rm
 m

an
ho

le
R

im
:6

37
.4

7
F

L:
63

4.
66

S
et

 n
ew

 s
to

rm
 m

an
ho

le
at

 e
nd

 o
f e

x.
 p

ip
e

R
im

:6
37

.3
5

F
L:

63
5.

26

62
 L

F
 1

8"
 E

q.
 A

rc
h 

P
ip

e
@

 4
.7

5%
 G

ra
de

S
et

 n
ew

 s
to

rm
 m

an
ho

le
at

 e
nd

 o
f e

x.
 p

ip
e

R
im

:6
33

.6
3

F
L:

63
1.

79

76
 L

F
 1

8"
 E

q.
 A

rc
h 

P
ip

e
@

 1
.1

5%
 G

ra
de

52
 L

F
 1

8"
 E

q.
 A

rc
h 

P
ip

e
@

 1
.1

5%
 G

ra
de

15
 L

F
 6

" 
S

ch
40

 P
V

C
pi

pe
 @

 1
.0

0%
 G

ra
de

R
ip

 R
ap

 O
ve

rf
lo

w
W

ei
r;

 E
le

v:
63

3.
50

R
ev

is
io

ns
:

S
he

et
 T

itl
e:

D
at

e:

S
ca

le
:

D
ra

w
in

g:D
ec

em
be

r 
5,

 2
01

9

F
ile

:
19

-1
20

5-
01

E
ng

in
ee

r

1"
=

20
'

C
-2

.0

G
ra

di
ng

&
 D

ra
in

ag
e

P
la

n

Si
te

 S
to

rm
 W

at
er

 D
ra

in
ag

e:
P

re
-d

ev
el

op
m

en
t s

ite
 c

on
di

tio
ns

 a
re

 a
 v

eg
et

at
ed

 lo
t c

on
si

st
in

g 
of

 tr
ee

s,
 g

ra
ss

 a
nd

 w
ee

ds
. T

he
 lo

t c
ur

re
nt

ly
dr

ai
ns

 to
 th

e 
no

rt
h 

to
 th

e 
ex

is
tin

g 
dr

ai
na

ge
 s

w
al

e.
   

S
to

rm
 w

at
er

 fr
om

 th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 s
ite

 w
ill

 r
et

ai
n 

ex
is

tin
g

dr
ai

na
ge

 p
at

te
rn

s.

P
re

-d
ev

el
op

m
en

t P
ea

k 
D

is
ch

ar
ge

 o
f d

ev
el

op
ed

 a
re

a:
D

A
: 0

.4
7 

A
C

N
 V

al
ue

: 6
1

Q
(2

5)
: 1

.3
 c

fs

P
os

t d
ev

el
op

m
en

t P
ea

k 
D

is
ch

ar
ge

 o
f d

ev
el

op
ed

 a
re

a:
D

A
: 0

.4
7 

A
W

ei
gh

te
d 

C
N

 V
al

ue
: 8

1
Q

(2
5)

: 1
.0

 c
fs

T
he

re
 w

ill
 b

e 
no

 a
dv

er
se

 a
ffe

ct
 to

 a
ny

 u
ps

tr
ea

m
 o

r 
do

w
ns

tr
ea

m
 p

ro
pe

rt
ie

s 
or

 th
e 

ad
ja

ce
nt

 r
ig

ht
 o

f w
ay

s.

A
ll 

dr
ai

na
ge

 p
ip

e 
an

d 
st

ru
ct

ur
es

 a
nd

 a
ll 

st
or

m
w

at
er

 c
on

ve
ya

nc
e 

sy
st

em
 o

n 
pr

iv
at

e
pr

op
er

ty
 is

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 r
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 o

f p
ro

pe
rt

y 
ow

ne
r.

C
ity

 o
f V

es
ta

vi
a 

H
ill

s 
do

es
 n

ot
 in

he
rit

 m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

.

2:
1 

S
lo

pe

2.
0'

M
in

.

15
 L

F
 6

" 
S

ch
40

 P
V

C
 @

 1
.0

0%
B

ot
to

m
 o

f P
on

d:
 6

32
.0

0

D
am

In
ve

rt
E

le
v.

  6
32

.0
0

T
op

 o
f D

am
E

le
v.

63
4.

00

12
"

   
 1

8"
T

op
 o

f D
am

 E
l. 

63
4.

00

R
ip

 R
ap

O
ve

rf
lo

w
 W

ei
r 

E
l. 

63
3.

50

X
-S

ec
tio

n 
of

 O
ve

rf
lo

w
 W

ei
r

n.
t.s

.

4

B
ot

to
m

 o
f P

on
d:

 6
32

.0
0

2'
 x

 2
' c

on
cr

et
e 

sl
ab

at
 e

nd
 o

f p
ip

e

O
ve

rf
lo

w
 W

ei
r

E
le

v.
 6

33
.5

0

D
et

en
tio

n 
P

on
d 

O
ut

le
t P

ip
e

n.
t.s

.



RE
LE

A
SE

S 
/ 

D
ES

C
RI

PT
IO

N
 /

 D
A

TE
S

N
O

T 
FO

R 
C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N
RE

LE
A

SE
D

 F
O

R 
C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N

D
A

TE

D
RA

W
N

C
HE

C
KE

D

A
PP

RO
V

ED

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

UM
BE

R

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE

D
RA

W
IN

G
 N

O
.

H+
HA

d
es

ig
n

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
e

pl
an

ni
ng

in
te

rio
r

.

A New Building for:

Birmingham Alabama EN
H

M
J,

 E
HR

.
.1

9

21
26

 M
or

ris
 A

ve
nu

e
B i

rm
in

gh
am

, A
L 

35
20

3
Ph

on
e 

  (
20

5)
 3

22
-1

75
1

Fa
x 

   
   

 (2
05

) 3
22

-1
77

8
em

ai
l  

   
in

fo
@

hp
lu

sh
a.

co
m

w
w

w
.h

pl
us

ha
.c

om

no
eh

n d
P,stce

cra
ih
t

uh
ietsekc
CPPn

 SALON

EX
TE

RI
O

R 
EL

EV
A

TIO
N

S A
2.

1





O
O

R
PL

A
N

FL
O

V
ES

TA
V

IA
, A

L

sc
al

e:
 1

/8
" =

 1
'-0

"
D

ec
em

be
r 2

, 2
01

9

in
te

rio
r

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
e

pl
an

ni
ng

.
.

n C
d

es
ig

n
ck

es
te

i
hu

t
hi

ar
crr

ec
ts,

P CC

dn
he

on









Ordinance Number 2908 
Page 1 

 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2908 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AND ENACTING PROCEDURES AND 
REQUIREMENTS FOR UNCLAIMED PROPERTY FOR THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS POLICE DEPARTMENT AND MUNICIPAL COURT 

 
WHEREAS, in 2013, the Code entitled "The Code of Ordinances of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama," (“the Code”) was re-published by Municipal Code Corporation, consisting of 

chapters 1 through 17, each inclusive, was adopted; and 

WHEREAS, Municipalities in Alabama are exempt from the Uniform Disposition of 

Unclaimed Property Act of 2004 by virtue of Title 35-12-73(a)(2) and Title 11-40-15, Code of 

Alabama, 1975; and 

WHEREAS, additions or amendment so the code are needed to address unclaimed 

property within the Vestavia Hills Police Department and the Vestavia Hills Municipal Court and 

procedures for handling same; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council find it in the best public interest to make the 

necessary additions or amendments a part of the Code in order to establish procedures for handling 

of unclaimed properties in the Vestavia Hills Police Department and Vestavia Hills Municipal 

Court.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, that the City’s code be amended as 

follows: 

SECTION 1. ABANDONED AND STOLEN PROPERTY. 

A. For the purpose of this Ordinance Number 2908, the term “Property” shall mean any cash 

property, including, but not limited to any amounts forfeited, abandoned or stolen which is 

received and is held and stored for a requisite period of time as established by state, county, 

local laws and departmental rules and procedures. 

B. Property is presumed abandoned if it is unclaimed by the apparent owner during the time 

set forth below for the particular property: 

1. Property held by a court, government, governmental subdivision, agency, or 

instrumentality becomes distributable in accordance with State, county, local, and 

departmental rules and procedures. 



Ordinance Number 2908 
Page 2 

 

 

2. Police forfeitures as applicable laws. 

C. Property is unclaimed if, for the applicable period set forth in subsection (a), the apparent 

owner has not communicated in writing, or by other means reflected in a contemporaneous 

record prepared by or on behalf of the holder, with the holder concerning the property or 

the account in which the property is held, and has not otherwise indicated an interest in the 

property. A communication with an owner by a person other than the holder or its 

representative who has not in writing identified the property to the owner is not an 

indication of interest in the property by the owner. 

SECTION 2.   PROCEDURE FOR REDEMPTION OF ABANDONED PROPERTY. 

A. An indication of an owner's or apparent owner's interest in property includes any of the 

following: 

1. The presentment of a check or other instrument of payment. 

2. The making of a deposit to or withdrawal from a bank account. Any correspondence 

in writing from the holder to the apparent owner, such as the mailing of a statement, 

report of interest paid or credited, renewal of a deposit or other written information 

relating to the deposit shall be construed to mean that the apparent owner has 

indicated an interest in the deposit if the correspondence in writing is not returned 

to the holder for non-delivery thereof. Any activity or indication of interest by an 

apparent owner in the deposit or in any other deposits in a holder shall be construed 

to be activity and indication of interest in all other deposits of the apparent owner 

in the holder. 

D. Property is payable or distributable for purposes of this article notwithstanding the failure 

of the owner or apparent owner to make demand or present an instrument or document 

otherwise required to obtain payment. 

E. Upon declaring property unclaimed under section (a) and (b) the City of Vestavia Hills 

shall promptly deposit the unclaimed property in the departmental designated accounts. 

F. The City of Vestavia Hills shall retain 10% of all unclaimed property in the Unclaimed 

Property Reserve Fund. 



Ordinance Number 2908 
Page 3 

 

 

G. A holder of property presumed abandoned shall make a proof of claim to the City of 

Vestavia Hills Finance Department concerning the property.  The report shall be filed in 

person.  The City of Vestavia Hills Finance Department may grant an exception upon 

written request as established by rule. 

1. The proof of claim must be verified, balanced, and shall contain, but not limited to: 

a) A description of the property; 

b) copy of the owners driver’s license or any official form used for 

identification; 

c) The owners current address and list of all addresses used that may be 

associated with the property being claimed;  

d) The owners Social Security number; 

e) A daytime phone number(s). 

2. The City of Vestavia Hills shall review the request of claim and take one (1) of the 

following steps: 

a) Contact the claimant for additional information; 

b) Deny the claim by written notification; or 

c) Accept the claim for ownership and submit payment within thirty (30) 

days of the date of the claim submission. 

SECTION 3.  REPEALER.   

In the event that any Ordinance or part thereof is in conflict with this Ordinance, then said 

Ordinance or part is hereby deemed repealed 

SECTION 4.  SEVERABILITY. 

If any part, section or subdivision of this resolution shall be held unconstitutional or invalid 

for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the remainder of this 

resolution, which shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2908 
Page 4 

 

 

SECTION 5.  EFFECTIVE DATE. 

This Ordinance Number 2908 shall become effective immediately following adoption and 

publishing/posting pursuant to Alabama law. 

 DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 27th day of January, 2020. 

 
 
 
       Ashley C. Curry  
       Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 

 I, Rebecca H. Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby certify 
that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance Number 2908 is a true and correct copy of 
such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills on the 27th 
day of January, 2020, as same appears in the official records of said City. 

 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, and Vestavia 
Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of ______________, 2020. 

 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 





 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5218 
 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING ALCOHOL LICENSE 

FOR PUBLIX ALABAMA LLC D/B/A PUBLIX 
ALABAMA 1692; JOSEPH DIBENEDETTO JR., 
JEFFREY GERARD CHAMBERLAIN, MERRIANN 
MAY METZ, EXECUTIVES 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, approves the 

alcohol license for Publix Alabama LLC d/b/a Publix Alabama 1692, located at 3201 

Endeavor Lane, Vestavia Hills, Alabama, for the sale of 050 - Retail Beer (off-premises) 

and 070 - Retail Table Wine (off-premises); Joseph DiBenedetto Jr., Jeffrey Gerard 

Chamberlain, Merriann May Metz, executives. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 27th day of January, 2020. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 

 





STATE OF ALABAMA 
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD 

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION 
Confirmation Number: 20191127093734928 

Type License: 050 - RETAIL BEER (OFF PREMISES ONLY) State: s150.00 County: $75.00

Type License: 070 - RETAIL TABLE WINE (OFF PREMISES ONLY) State: s150.00 County: $75.00

Trade Name: PUBLIX ALABAMA 1692 

Applicant: PUBLIX ALABAMA LLC 

Location Address: 3201 ENDEAVOR LANE 

Filing Fee: $100.00 

Transfer Fee: 

VESTAVIA HILLS, AL 35242 

Mailing Address: PO BOX 32027 LAKELAND, FL 33802 

County: JEFFERSON Tobacco sales: YES Tobacco Vending Machines: O 

Type Ownership: LLC 
Book, Page, or Document info: 200013 5582 
Date Incorporated: 11/27/2000 State incorporated: AL County Incorporated: 
Date of Authority: 11/27/2000 Alabama State Sales Tax ID:  R680016486 
Federal Tax ID :  59-3682312 

Name: 
JOSEPH DIBENEDETTO JR 
57290867 - GA 

JEFFREY GERARD CHAMBERLAIN 
C516427561230 - FL 

MERRIANN MAY M TZ 
M320553756240 · FL 

Title: Date and Place of Birth: Residence Address: 
03/12/1959 716 FIRST COTTON DRIVE 
ASTORIA NY POWDER SPRINGS, GA 30127 

04/03/1956 
BOURNE MA 

4 1 75 
CLEARWATER FL 

833 ASHTON OAKS CIRCLE 
LAKELAND, FL 33813 

TAMPA, FL 33606 

Has applicant complied with financial responsibility ABC RR 20-X-5-.14? YES 
Does ABC have any actions pending against the current licensee? NO 
Has anyone, including manager or applicant, had a Federal/State permit or license suspended or revoked? NO 
Has a liquor, wine, malt or brewed license for these premises ever been denied, suspended, or revoked? NO 
Are the applicant(s) named above, the only person(s), in any manner interested in the business sought to be 
licensed? YES 
Are any of the applicants, whether individual, member of a partnership or association, or officers and 
directors of a corporation itself, in any manner monetarily interested, either directly or indirectly, in the 
profits of any other class of business regulated under authority of this act? NO 
Does applicant own or control, directly or indirectly, hold lien against any real or personal property which is 
rented, leased or used in the conduct of business by the holder of any vinous, malt or brewed beverage, or 
distilled liquors permit or license issued under authority of this act? NO 
Is applicant receiving, either directly or indirectly, any loan, credit, money, or the equivalent thereof from or 
through a subsidiary or affiliate or other licensee, or from any firm, association or corporation operating 
under or regulated by the authority of this act? NO 

Contact Person: MICHELLE MERCER 
Business Phone: 863-688-1188 
Fax: 

PREVIOUS LICENSE INFORMATION: 
Trade Name: 
Applicant: 

Home Phone: 863-688-1188 
Cell Phone: 863-688-1188 
E-mail: MICHELLE.MERCER@PUBLIX.COM 

Previous License Number(s) 
License 1: 
License 2: 

Exhibit - Resolution No. 5218



STATE OF ALABAMA 
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD 

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION 
Confirmation Number: 20191127093734928 

If applicant is leasing the property, is a copy of the lease agreement attached? YES 
Name of Property owner/lessor and phone number: LP DEVELOPMENT, LLC 999-999-9999 
What is lessors primary business? REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT 
Is lessor involved in any way with the alcoholic beverage business? NO 
ls there any further interest, or connection with, the licensee's business by the lessor? NO 

Does the premise have a fully equipped kitchen? NO 
Is the business used to habitually and principally provide food to the public? NO 
Does the establishment have restroom facilities? YES 
ls the premise equipped with services and facilities for on premises consumption of alcoholic beverages? NO 

Will the business be operated primarily as a package store? NO 
Building Dimensions Square Footage: 48387 Display Square Footage: 
Building seating capacity: O Does Licensed premises include a patio area? NO 
License Structure: SINGLE STRUCTURE License covers: ENTIRE STRUCTURE 
Location is within: CITY LIMITS Police protection: CITY 

Has any person(s) with any interest, including manager, whether as sole applicant, officer, member, or 
partner been charged (whether convicted or not) of any law violation(s)? 
Name: v· · &o o· 10lat10n ate: Arresting Agency: 1spos1hon: 

Exhibit - Resolution No. 5218



ST ATE OF ALABAMA 
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD 

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION 
Confirmation Number: 20191127093734928 

I ·r I h Signature page 
nreference to law violations, I attest to the truthfulness of the responses given within the application. 
n reference to the Lease/property ownership, I attest to the truthfulness of the responses given within 

i\ de application. 

I  Jt?:7 In reference to ACT No. 80-529, I understand that if my application is denied or discontinued, I will not be 
refunded the filing fee required by this application. 

I I In reference to Special Retail or Special Events retail license, I agree to comply with all applicable laws and 
regulations concerning this class of license, and to observe the special terms and conditions as indicated 

 - - - , - - ,  within the application. 

I ..-::::::::: I In reference to the Club Application information, I attest to the truthfulness of the responses given 

- - - - - ,  within the application. 

I C:::::::::: In reference to the transfer of license/location, I attest to the truthfulness of the information listed on the 
attached transfer agreement. 
In accordance with Alabama Rules & Regulations 20-X-5-.01(4), any social security number disclosed 
under this regulation shall be used for the purpose of investigation or verification by the ABC Board 
and shall not be a matter of public record. 
The undersigned agree, if a license is issued as herein applied for, to comply at all times with and to fully 
observe all the provisions of the Alabama Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, as appears in Code of Alabama, 
Title 28, and all laws of the State of Alabama relative to the handling of alcoholic beverages. 
The undersigned, if issued a license as herein requested, further agrees to obey all rules and regulations 
promulgated by the board relative to all alcoholic beverages received in this State. The undersigned, 
if issued a license as herein requested, also agrees to allow and hereby invites duly authorized agents of 
the Alabama Alcoholic Beverage Control Board and any duly commissioned law enforcement officer of 
the State, County or Municipality in which the license premises are located to enter and search without 
a warrant the licensed premises or any building owned or occupied by him or her in connection with 
said licensed premises. The undersigned hereby understands that he or she violate any provisions of the 
aforementioned laws his or her license shall be subject to revocation and no license can be again issued 
to said licensee for a period of one year. The undersigned further understands and agrees that no changes 
in the manner of operation and no deletion or discontinuance of any services or facilities as described in this 
application will be allowed without written approval of the proper governing body and the Alabama 

Oholic Beverage Control Board. 
ereby swear and affirm that I have read the application and all statements therein and facts set forth are true 
d correct, and that the applicant is the only person interested in the business for which the license 

is required. \ 
Applicant Name (print): \)0-Mteb   . }\J:hil 

Signature of Applicant: 

Notary Name (print): 

Notary Signature:  ommission expires  l   d l JJ
Application Taken: App. Inv. Completed: 
Submitted to Local Government: 
Received in District Office: Reviewed by Supervisor: 

Forwarded to District Office: 
Received from Local Government: 

Forwarded to Central Office: 

Exhibit - Resolution No. 5218



 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 5219 

 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING ALCOHOL LICENSE 

FOR RAJAJIT HOTEL LLC D/B/A HILTON 
GARDEN INN BIRMINGHAM LIBERTY PARK; 
KISHOR DESAI, MITESH PATEL AND RINKESH 
PATEL, EXECUTIVES 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, approves the 

alcohol license for Rajajit Hotel LLC d/b/a Hilton Garden Inn Birmingham Liberty Park, 

located at 2090 Urban Center Parkway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama, for the on-premise sale 

of 020 - Restaurant Retail Liquor; Kishor Desai, Mitesh Patel and Rinkesh Patel, 

executives. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 27th day of January, 2020. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 





ST A TE OF ALABAMA 
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD 

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION 
Confirmation N um her: 20200116100908468 

Type License: 020 - RESTAURANT RETAIL LIQUOR 
Type License: 

State: 

State: 

Trade Name: HILTON GARDEN INN BIRMINGHAM LIBERTY PARK Filing Fee: 

County: 

County: 

Applicant: RAJAJIT HOTEL LLC Transfer Fee: $50.00 

Location Address: 2090 URBAN CENTER PKWY VESTAVIA HILLS, AL 35242 
Mailing Address: 233 12TH ST ;  SUITE 301 
County: JEFFERSON Tobacco sales: NO 

Book, Page, or Document info: 00065 0312-0314 

COLUMBUS, GA 31901 
Tobacco Vending Machines: 

Type Ownership: LLC 

Date Incorporated: 09/09/2019 State incorporated: AL County Incorporated: RUSSELL 
Date of Authority: 09/09/2019 Alabama State Sales Tax ID: R010596035 
Federal Tax ID: 84-3197326 
Name: 

KISHOR DESAI 
032368404 - AL 

MITESH PATEL 
7439043 - A L  

RINKESH PATEL 
7234229-AL 

Title: Date and Place o f  Birth: Residence Address: 
10 211951 
TANZANIA 

04/02/1985 
INDIA 

INDIA 

7470 ROLLING BEND RD 
COLUMBUS , GA 31904 

620 MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. PKWY 
PHENIX CITY , AL 36869 

Has applicant complied with financial responsibility ABC RR 20-X-5-.14? YES  
Does ABC have any actions pending against the current licensee? NO 
Has anyone, including manager or applicant, had a Federal/State permit or license suspended or revoked? NO 
Has a liquor, wine, malt or brewed license for these premises ever been denied, suspended, or revoked? NO 
Are the applicant(s) named above, the only person(s), in any manner interested in the business sought to be 
licensed? YES  
Are any o f  the applicants, whether individual, member o f  a partnership or association, or officers and 
directors o f  a corporation itself, in any manner monetarily interested, either directly or indirectly, in the 
profits o f  any other class o f  business regulated under authority o f  this act? NO 
Does applicant own or control, directly or indirectly, hold lien against any real or personal property which is 
rented, leased or used in the conduct of  business by the holder o f  any vinous, malt or brewed beverage, or 
distilled liquors permit or license issued under authority o f  this act? NO 
Is applicant receiving, either directly or indirectly, any loan, credit, money, or the equivalent thereof from or 
through a subsidiary or affiliate or other licensee, or from any firm, association or corporation operating 
under or regulated by the authority of  this act? NO 

Contact Person: AN SUR AHMED 
Business Phone: 205-503-5220 
Fax: 

Home Phone: 706-987-3181 
Cell Phone: 706-987-3181 
E-mail: ANSUR.AHMED@OUTLOOK.COM 

PREVIOUS LICENSE INFORMATION: Previous license Number(s) 
Trade Name: HILTON GARDEN INN LIBERTY PARK License 1: 010088537 
Applicant: SUMMITT HOTEL TRS 087 LLC License 2: 

Exhibit - Resolution No. 5219



STATE OF ALABAMA 
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD 

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION 

Confirmation Number: 20200116100908468 

If applicant is leasing the property, is a copy of  the lease agreement attached? 
Name of  Property owner/lessor and phone number: RAJAJIT HOTEL, LLC 706-660-5616 
What is lessors primary business? HOTEL 
Is lessor involved in any way with the alcoholic beverage business? NO 
Is there any further interest, or· connection with, the licensee's business by the lessor? NO 

Does the premise have a fully equipped kitchen? YES 
Is the business used to habitually and principally provide food to the public? YES 
Does the establishment have restroom facilities? YES 
Is the premise equipped with services and facilities for on premises consumption of  alcoholic beverages? YES 

Will the business be operated primarily as a package store? NO 
Building Dimensions Square Footage: 13808 Display Square Footage: 
Building seating capacity: 43 Does Licensed premises include a patio area? YES 
License Structure: MOTEUHOTEL License covers: ENTIRE STRUCTURE 
Location is within: CITY LIMITS Police protection: CITY 

Has any person(s) with any interest, including manager, whether as sole applicant, officer, member, or 
partner been charged (whether convicted or not) of  any law violation(s)?
N v· I ti & D t . A f A n· "ti ame: 10 a on a e: rres mi  .2ency: ISPOSI on: 

Exhibit - Resolution No. 5219



Resolution Number 5220 
Page 1 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5220 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A BID FOR A USED HEAVY RESCUE 
TRUCK FOR THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS FIRE DEPARTMENT 

WHEREAS, on January 22, 2020 the City of Vestavia Hills publicly read aloud bids 

submitted for a used heavy rescue truck for the Vestavia Hills Fire Department with one bid 

received; and 

WHEREAS, the Fire Chief has reviewed the bid and detailed it in an Interoffice 

Memorandum to the City Manager dated January 22, 2020 and recommended acceptance of the 

bid submitted by Brindlee Mountain Fire Apparatus LLC at a cost of $110,000.  A copy of said 

Interoffice Memorandum is marked as Exhibit A attached to and incorporated into this Resolution 

Number 5220 as if written fully therein; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to accept the 

recommendation of the Fire Chief and accept said bid as detailed in Exhibit A. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The bid submitted by Brindlee Mountain Fire Apparatus LLC as detailed in attached

Exhibit A and recommended by the Fire Chief, is hereby accepted; and

2. This Resolution Number 5220 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and

approval.

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 27th day of January, 2020.

Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor  

ATTESTED BY: 

Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Serving Since 1951 
 

 
 

VESTAVIA HILLS FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Jeff Downes, City Manager  
 
FROM:  Marvin Green, Fire Chief 
 
DATE:  January 22, 2020 
 
RE:  Heavy Rescue Bid Recommendation 
 
 
 
We received one bid on the specifications for used heavy rescue to be purchased in the FY 2020        
budget.  Brindlee Mountain Fire Apparatus, LLC was the only bidder and did not take an 
exception or instance of deviation from the specifications. 
 
Based upon thorough review of the specifications and inspection of the apparatus. I recommend 
that the bid by Brindlee Mountain Fire Apparatus for $110,000.00 be accepted.   
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5220



ORDINANCE NUMBER 2914 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND CITY MANAGER 
TO EXECUTE AND DELIVER A JOINT PURCHASING AGREEMENT 
WITH THE VESTAVIA HILLS BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE 
PURCHASE OF PAVING SERVICES 

 
 WHEREAS, on September 12, 2019, the City of Vestavia Hills (“City”) after inviting 

competitive bids for public street resurfacing, received a bid from Dunn Construction, Inc., for a 

period of three years; and 

 WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Board of Education (“Board”) is desirous to enter into a 

joint purchasing agreement pursuant to Alabama law for paving services pursuant to the City’s 

bid; and  

 WHEREAS, a copy of said joint purchasing agreement is marked as Exhibit A, attached 

to and incorporated into this Ordinance Number 2914 is if written fully therein; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to execute 

and deliver a joint purchasing agreement with the Board for needed paving services. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized to execute and deliver the joint 

purchasing agreement marked as Exhibit A; and 

2. Said agreement shall become effective immediately upon execution by the Board and by 

Dunn Construction Company, Inc.; and 

3. A copy of said executed agreement shall be submitted to the Office of the City Clerk 

following full execution by all parties. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 27th day of January, 2020. 

 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



STATE OF ALABAMA 

JEFFERSON COUNTY 

JOINT PURCHASING AGREEMENT FOR PAVING SERVICES 

TIDS JOINT PURCHASING AGREEMENT FOR PAVING SERVICES, is made 
and entered into on this the _ _  day of January, 2020, by and among the City of Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama, a municipal corporation ("City"), the Board of Education of the City of Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama ("Board") and Dunn Construction Company, Inc., an Alabama corporation ("General 
Contractor"). 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the Alabama Competitive Bid Law at Title 41-16-S0(b ), Code o f  Alabama, 
1975, authorizes municipalities in Alabama to enter into Joint Purchasing Agreements with other 
enumerated governmental bodies, including a city school board; and 

WHEREAS, the Alabama Competitive Bid Law at Title 16-13B-l(c), Code o f  Alabama, 
1975, authorizes city school boards in Alabama to enter into Joint Purchasing Agreements with 
other enumerated governmental bodies, including a municipality; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation ("City"), and 
the Board of Education of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama ("Board") wish to enter into a 
Joint Purchasing Agreement pursuant to the two statutes cited above; 

WHEREAS, on August 16, 2019, the City invited competitive bids for public street 
resurfacing for a period of three (3) years; and 

WHEREAS, on September 12, 2019, the City received a bid from Dunn Construction 
Company, Inc. in the amount of $3,743,375.00; and 

WHEREAS, the scope of the work constituted a "public works" project within the 
meaning of Act No. 97-225 enacted by the Legislature of the State of Alabama effective April 
22, 1997 and now codified as Title 39, Chapters 1 through 5, et seq., Code o f  Alabama, 1975, 
hereinafter referred to as the "Public Works Law of Alabama"; and 

WHEREAS, on October 28, 2019, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama determined that the General Contractor submitted the lowest responsible and 
responsive bid; and 

WHEREAS, on October 28, 2019, the City approved and adopted Resolution Number 
5199 accepting the bid and awarded the Construction Contract to Dunn Construction Company, 
Inc. ("General Contractor"); and 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Joint Purchasing Agreement for Paving Services 
page2 

WHEREAS, the City and General Contractor entered into a Construction Contract on 
November 25, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, a copy of the Construction Contract ("Contract") is attached hereto, marked 
as Exhibit 1 and is incorporated into this Joint Purchasing Agreement for Paving Services by 
reference as though set out fully herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Contract provides, among other things: 

1. Bid Documents: The Contract provides in Sections II and Ill that the Invitation
to Bid and the bid itself are incorporated into the Contract. 

2. Extra Work: Section 109.04(a) provides that the General Contractor will
perform extra work at the unit prices or lump sum stipulated in the supplemental agreement. 

3. Amendment: Section XXV-B of the Contract provides that the Contract may be 
amended at any time by written agreement of the parties signatory hereto; and 

WHEREAS, the Vestavia Hills Board of Education ("Board") needs paving work for the 
construction project on, at and near the former Berry School campus purchased by the Board on 
October 5, 2016. The Board would like to have Dunn Construction Company, Inc. perform 
paving work pursuant to the legal authority of Title 41-16-S0(b), Code o f  Alabama, 1975; and 

WHEREAS, the statute set forth in Title 41-16-S0(b), Code o f  Alabama, 1975, 
authorizing the City to enter into Joint Purchasing Agreements provides in pertinent part as 
follows: 

"Each contracting agency's share of expenditures for purchases 
under any agreement shall be appropriated and paid in the manner 
set forth in the agreement and in the same manner as for other 
expenses of the contracting agency."; and 

WHEREAS, the statute set forth in Title 16-13B-l(c), Code o f  Alabama, 1975, 
authorizing the Board to enter into Joint Purchasing Agreements provides that: 

"Each contracting agency's share of expenditures for purchases 
under any agreement shall be appropriated and paid in the manner 
set forth in the agreement and in the same manner as for other 
expenses of the contracting agency."; and 

WHEREAS, the General Contractor is willing to perform additional paving services for 
the Board; and 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Joint Purchasing Agreement for Paving Services 
page3 

WHEREAS, the General Contractor has submitted a description of work and prices 
wherein it agreed to perform the work for an approximate total of $245,447.50 with the 
understanding that unless the above is a lump sum price, that quantities are estimated only and 
that payment shall be made at the unit price on the actual field measured quantities of performed 
work; and 

WHEREAS, a copy of the Standard Proposal and Contract prepared by the General 
Contractor is attached hereto, marked as Exhibit 2 and incorporated into this Joint Purchasing 
Agreement for Paving Services as though set out fully herein; and 

WHEREAS, the City, Board and General Contractor are willing to enter into this Joint 
Purchasing Agreement for Paving Services. 

NOW, THEREFORE, KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That the City, 
Board and General Contractor, hereby mutually and expressly amend the Contract as set forth 
below: 

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Contract to the contrary, the City, Board and 
General Contractor agree to modify the Contract by adding the following terms, provisions, 
limitations and conditions to said Contract: 

XXVI. RECITALS

The recitals set forth above are incorporated into this Joint Purchasing Agreement for
Paving Services by reference as though set out fully herein. 

XXVII. BOARD ADDED AS PARTY TO THE CONTRACT

The Board of Education of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama ("Board") is added as a
party to the Contract dated November 25, 2019 (Exhibit 1 is attached). 

XXVIII. SCOPE OF WORK FOR THE BOARD

The scope of the work to be performed by the General Contractor for the Board is set 
forth and described in Exhibit 2, attached hereto and is incorporated into this Joint Purchasing 
Agreement for Paving Services by reference as though set out fully herein. The work performed 
by the General Contractor for the Board shall be pursuant to the terms, provisions and conditions 
set forth in the Contract as amended by this Joint Purchasing Agreement for Paving Services. 

XXIX. CONTRACT PRICE FOR BOARD

The Board shall pay to the General Contractor for the work described above, the
approximate sum of Two Hundred Forty-five Thousand Four Hundred Forty-seven and 50/100 
Dollars ($245,447.50). It is understood, unless the above is a lump sum price, that quantities are 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Joint Purchasing Agreement for Paving Services 
page4 

estimated only and that payment shall be made at the unit price on the actual field measured 
quantities of work performed. 

XXX. LIABILITY OF CITY

The City shall not be liable to the General Contractor for any amount for work performed
by the General Contractor for the Board. 

XXXI. LIABILITY OF BOARD

The Board shall not be liable to the General Contractor for any amount for work
performed by the General Contractor for the City. 

XXXII. AFFIRMATION

The City, Board and General Contractor further agree to all other aspects, terms, 
provisions and conditions of the original Contract and they are hereby ratified, approved and 
confirmed by the parties so that the same shall remain in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal 
corporation, the Board of Education of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama and Dunn 
Construction Company, Inc., an Alabama corporation, have hereunto caused this Joint 
Purchasing Agreement for Paving Services to be executed by their duly authorized officers and 
their respective seals to be affixed hereto on this the _ _ _  day of January, 2020. 

ATTESTED 

By 

CITY: 
CITY OF VESTA VIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
A Municipal Corporation 

By 

By 

Ashley C. Curry 
Its Mayor 

Jeffrey D. Downes 
Its City Manager 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Joint Purchasing Agreement for Paving Services 
page 5 

ATTESTED: 

By 

ATTESTED 

By 

BOARD: 
THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE 
CITY OF VESTA VIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

By 
Dr. Todd Freeman 
Its Superintendent 

GENERAL CONTRACTOR: 
DUNN CONSTRUCTION COMP ANY, INC. 
An Alabama Corporation 

By 
Its - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Joint Purchasing Agreement for Paving Services 
page6 

STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I, the undersig n ed authority, a Notary Public in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Ashley C. Curry, whose name as Mayor of  the City of  Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a 
municipal corporation, is sig n ed to the foregoing Joint Purchasing Agreement for Paving 
Services, and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of 
the contents of  the instrument, he, as such officer and with full authority, executed the same 
voluntarily for and as the act o f  said City of  Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

Given under my hand and official seal, this the _ _ _  day of  _ _ _ _ _  __,, 2020. 

My Commission Expires: 

SEAL 

STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

Notary Public 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Jeffrey D. Downes, whose name as City Manager of  the City of  Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama, a municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing Joint Purchasing Agreement for 
Paving Services, and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being 
informed of the contents of  the instrument, he, as such officer and with full authority, executed 
the same voluntarily for and as the act o f  said City o f  Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

Given under my hand and official seal, this the _ _ _  day of  _ _ _ _ _  __, 2020. 

Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 

SEAL 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Joint Purchasing Agreement for Paving Services 
page 7 

STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Dr. Todd Freeman, whose name as Superintendent of the Board of Education of the 
City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama is signed to the foregoing Joint Purchasing Agreement for 
Paving Services, and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being 
informed of the contents of the contract, he in his capacity as such and with full authority, 
executed the same voluntarily for and as the act of said the Board of Education of the City of 
Vestavia Hills, Alabama on the day the same bears date. 

Given under my hand and official seal, this the _ _ _  day of _ _ _ _ _ _  ,. 2020. 

My Commission Expires: 

SEAL 

STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

Notary Public 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  , whose 
name as _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  of Dunn Construction Company, Inc., an 
Alabama corporation, is signed to the foregoing Joint Purchasing Agreement for Paving 
Services, and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of 
the contents of  the instrument, he, as such officer and with full authority, executed the same 
voluntarily for and as the act of  said Dunn Construction Company, Inc., an Alabama 
corporation. 

Given under my hand and official seal, this the _ _ _  da y  of _ _ _ _ _  2020. 

Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 

SEAL 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



S T A T E  O F  A L A B A M A  

J E F F E R S O N  C O U N T Y  

CONSTRUCTION C O N T R A C T  

W I T N E S S E T H  T H I S  CONSTRUCTION C O N T R A C T ,  made and entered into on 
this the 25 th day of November, 2019, by and between the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a 
municipal corporation, organized, existing and operating pursuant to the laws of the State of 
Alabama situated at 1032 Montgomery Highway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama 35216, hereinafter 
referred to as the "City", and Dunn Construction, hereinafter referred to as the "General 
Contractor," whose principal place of business is situated at 3905 Messer Airport Highway, 
Birmingham, Alabama 35222. 

W I T N E S S E T H  T H E S E  R E C I T A L S :  

WHEREAS,  on the 12th day of September , 2019, the City 
invited competitive bids for public street resurfacing for a period of three (3) years; and 

WHEREAS,  the scope of the work constitutes a "public works" project within the 
meaning of Act No. 97 225 enacted by the Legislature of the State of Alabama effective April 
22, 1997 and now codified as Title 39, Chapters I through 5, et seq., Code o f  Alabama, 1975, 
hereinafter referred to as the "Public Works" Law of Alabama; and 

WHEREAS,  on the 28th day of October , 2019, the City 
Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama determined that the General Contractor submitted 
the lowest responsible and responsive bid and awarded the contract for the public works project 
to the General Contractor; and 

WHEREAS,  the City and the General Contractor have agreed to the terms, provisions 
and conditions of this Construction Contract and have further agreed that it is in the best interest 
of the parties that this contract be reduced to writing. 

NOW, T H E R E F O R E ,  K N O W  A L L  MEN B Y  T H E S E  PRESENTS:  That in 
consideration of the mutual covenants, premises and promises contained herein and other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged by each of the parties 
hereto, the City and General Contractor mutually agree as follows: 

I. P U B L I C  W O R K S  L A W

Notwithstanding any other laws to the contrary, Act No. 97-225, which is set forth in 
Title 39, Chapters 1 through 5, of the Code o f  Alabama, 1975, ("Public Works Law") shall 
control the interpretation, construction, administration and enforcement of this Construction 
Contract. Both the City and the General Contractor agree that any and all terms, provisions, 
conditions and limitations of the said Public Works Law shall be and are hereby incorporated 
into this Construction Contract by reference as though set out fully herein. 

Pagel of 8 

EXHIBIT 1 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Il. INVITATION TO BID 

The Invitation to Bid prepared by the City and submitted to the Contractor is attached 
hereto, marked as Exhibit l and is incorporated into this Construction Contract by reference as 
though set out fully herein. 

Ill. BID BY GENERAL CONTRACTOR 

The bid by General Contractor submitted to the City is attached hereto, marked as Exhibit 
1 and is incorporated into this Construction Contract by reference as though set out fully herein. 

IV. GENERAL CONTRACTOR

General Contractor represents, covenants and warrants that it is a licensed general 
contractor within the meaning o f  Title 34-8-1, Code o f  Alabama, 1975. Said General Contractor 
further represents that it is duly licensed and qualified to furnish the materials and supplies and 
perform the work o f  the public works project. 

V. SCOPE OF THE WORK

The General Contractor shall furnish all labor, materials, taxes, insurance (worker's
compensation and general liability) as follows:

Street repair and resurfacing 

VI. CONTRACT PRICE

The City shall pay to the General Contractor for the faithful performance o f  this contract
and the compJetion o f  the work described in paragraph II above in an amount calculated in 
accordance with the bid marked as Exhibit 1. 

VII. PAYMENT OF CONTRACT PRICE

The City shall pay to the General Contractor the contract price in full upon completion o f
the work described in paragraph II hereof. 

VIII. CONTRACT TIME

For this three-year contract, the General Contractor agrees to have all work completed 
within 90 days o f  submission of  paving needs and agrees to commence work with an adequate 
force and sufficient equipment to complete the work within the allotted time. 

IX. QUALITY OF WORK

All labor, construction and installation o f  materials installed by the General Contractor in 
the performance o f  this agreement shall be done in a workmanlike manner. 

Page 2 of8 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



X. WORKER'S COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYER'S LIABILITY COVERAGE

Worker's Compensation coverage shall be provided in accordance with the statutory
coverage required in Alabama. A group insurer must submit a certificate o f  authority from 
the Alabama Department o f  Industrial Relations approving the group insurance plan. A self-
insurer must submit a certificate from the Alabama Department o f  Industrial Relations 
stating that the Contractor qualifies to pay its own workers' compensation claims. 

Employer's Liability Insurance limits shall be at least: 
Bodily Injury by Accident--$1,000,000 each accident 
Bodily Injury by Disease--$1,000,000 each employee 

XI. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE

Commercial General Liability Insurance ("COL"), written on an ISO Occurrence
Form (current edition ofISO CG 00 01 as o f  the date o f  Advertisement o f  Bids) or 
equivalent, shall include but need not be limited to coverage for bodily injury and property 
damage arising from premises and operations liability, products and completed operations 
liability, blasting and explosion, collapse o f  structures, underground damage, personal injury 
liability and contractual liability. The Commercial General Liability Insurance shall provide 
at minimum the following limits: 

Coverage 
General Aggregate 
Products, Completed Operations 
Aggregate 
Personal and Advertising Injury 
Each Occurrence 

Limit 
$2,000,000 per Project 

$2,000,000 per Project 
$1,000,000 per Occurrence 
$1,000,000 

The policy shall name the City o f  Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as Owner, and its public 
officials and employees, and its agents, consultants and employees as additional insureds 
(the "Indemnitees "), and state that this coverage shall be primary insurance for the additional 
insureds. Evidence that Contractor's insurance is primary with respect to any coverages 
available to the Indemnitees shall be provided in the form o f  an endorsement to the 
Contractor's COL policy. Evidence that the lndemnitees have been named as additional 
insureds shall be provided by endorsements equivalent to ISO CG 2010 or CG 2033 and CG 
2037. 

The policy must include separate per project aggregate limits. 

XII. COMMERCIAL BUSINESS AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY INSURANCE

Commercial Business Automobile Liability Insurance shall include coverage for
bodily injury and property damage arising from the operation o f  any owned, non-owned or 
hired automobile. The Commercial Business Automobile Liability Insurance Policy shall 
provide not less than $1,000,000 Combined Single Limits for each occurrence. 

Page 3 o f  8 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



The policy shall name the Owner, City o f  Vestavia Hills, Alabama, its public 
officials and employees, and its agents, consultants and employees as additional insureds. 

XIII. COMMERCIAL UMBRELLA LIABILITY INSURANCE

Umbrella Liability Insurance shall provide coverage limits excess o f  the Commercial
General Liability, Commercial Business Automobile Liability and the Employers' Liability 
coverage limits, on a follow-form basis, to satisfy the minimum limits set forth herein. 

Minimum Combined Primary Commercial General Liability 
and Commercial/Excess Umbrella Limits of: 

$5,000,000 perOccurrence 
$5,000,000 Aggregate. 

XIV. INDEMNITY

The General Contractor shall indemnify and save harmless the City o f  Vestavia Hills,
Alabama, its Mayor, individual members o f  the City Council, servants, agents, employees or 
representatives from any and all claims, demands, controversies, actions, causes o f  action, 
liabilities o f  action, lawsuits, liabilities and damages arising out o f  or resulting from property 
damage, personal injury and/or death suffered or alleged to have been suffered by any person as 
a result for work performed under this contract. 

XV. INDEPENDENT GENERAL CONTRACTOR

The General Contractor is an independent contractor for purposes o f  this agreement. 
Nothing contained herein shall be construed to mean that said General Contractor is the servant, 
agent or employee o f  the City. 

XVI. ASSIGNMENT

This contract shall not be assignable by the General Contractor in any respect without
having first obtained the written consent o f  the City evidenced by a properly enacted resolution 
of the City Council o f  the City o f  Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

XVII. PERMITS, LAWS, CODES AND ORDINANCES

The General Contractor shall give all notices required by and comply with all applicable
laws, ordinances and codes o f  the local, state and federal governments. 

XVIII. BONDS

In accordance with Title 39-1-1, Code o f  Alabama, 1975, the General Contractor agrees 
to execute a performance bond with penalty equal to one hundred (100%) percent o f  the amount 
of the Contract price, and in addition thereto, another bond with good and sufficient surety 
payable to the City in an amount not less than fifty percent (50%) o f  the contract price with the 
obligation that such General Contractor shall promptly make payments to all persons supplying it 

Page 4 o f  8 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



with the labor, materials, equipment or supplies for and in the prosecution of the work provided 
for in this Contract and for the payment of reasonable attorney's fees incurred by successful 
claimants or plaintiffs in civil actions on said bond. 

A copy of the said performance bond shall be marked as Exhibit "2", attached hereto and 
incorporated and made a part of the contract as though set out fully herein. A copy of the labor 
and material bond shall be designated as Exhibit "3" attached hereto and incorporated and made 
a part of this contract as though set out fully herein. 

XIX. ACCIDENT PREVENTION 

The General Contractor shall exercise proper precaution at all times for the protection of
persons and property and shall be responsible for all damages to person or property, either on or 
off the site, which occur as a result of its prosecution of the work. The safety provisions of 
applicable laws and building and construction codes shall be observed. Machinery, equipment 
and all hazards shall be guarded in accordance with the safety provisions of the Manual of 
Accident Prevention in Construction published by the Associated General Contractors of 
America, Inc., to the extent that such provisions are not in conflict with applicable local, state or 
federal laws. 

XX. SUBCONTRACTORS 

No proposed subcontractor shall be disapproved by the City, except for cause. 

The General Contractor shall be fully responsible to the City for the acts and omissions of
its subcontractors and of persons either directly or indirectly employed by said subcontractors, as 
it is for the acts and omissions of persons directly employed by it. 

The General Contractor shall cause appropriate provision to be inserted in all 
subcontracts relative to the work to require compliance by each subcontractor with the applicable 
provisions of the Contract for the improvements embraced in the project. 

Nothing contained in the Contract shall create any contractual relation between any 
subcontractor and the City. 

The General Contractor shall pay all subcontractors for materials and supplies installed in 
this project by said subcontractors and all work and labor performed by said subcontractors on 
said project. 

XXI. INSPECTION 

All materials and workmanship shall be subject to inspection, examination or test by the 
City at any and all times during installation or construction and at any and all places where such 
manufacture or construction is carried on. The City shall have the right to reject defective 
materials and workmanlike and/or require its correction. Unacceptable workmanship shall be 
satisfactorily corrected. Rejected material shall be promptly segregated and removed from the 
project area and be replaced with material of specified quality without charge therefor. I f  the 
General Contractor fails to proceed at once with the correction of rejected workmanship or 

Page 5 of 8 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



defective material, the City may contract for or otherwise have the defects remedied or rejected 
materials removed from the project area and charge the cost o f  the same against any moneys 
which may be due the Contractor, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies of  the City. 

XXII. TERMINATION 

The Contract, o f  which scope of  work described in paragraph II hereof form a part, may 
be annulled by the City for any one of the following reasons: 

A. Substantial evidence that the progress made by the General Contractor is 
insufficient to complete the work within the specified time. 

B. Deliberate failure on the part of the General Contractor to observe the 
requirements o f  this Contract. 

C. Failure on the part o f  the General Contractor to promptly make good any defects 
in materials or workmanship that may be indicated to it by the City. 

D. Any other breach o f  contract by the General Contractor.

XXIII. GENERAL GUARANTY BY GENERAL CONTRACTOR 

Neither the final certificate o f  payment nor any provision in the Contract nor partial or 
entire use o f  the improvements embraced in this Contract by the City or the public shall 
constitute an acceptance o f  work not done in accordance with the Contract or relieve the General 
Contractor of  liability in respect to any express warranties of  responsibility for faulty materials or 
workmanship. The General Contractor shall promptly remedy any defects in the work and pay 
for any damage to other work resulting therefrom which shall appear within a period o f  twelve 
(12) months from the date o f  final acceptance of  the work. The City will give notice o f  defective
material and work with reasonable promptness. 

XXIV. REMOVAL OF DEBRIS AND CLEANING 

The General Contractor shall, periodically or as directed during the progress of  the work,
remove and legally dispose o f  all surplus material and debris, and keep tlie Project Area and 
public rights of  way reasonable clear. Upon completion o f  the work, it shall remove all 
temporary construction facilities, debris and unused materials provided for the work, and put the 
whole site o f  the work and public rights o f  way in a neat and clean condition. 

XXV. MISCELLANEOUS

A. Non Waiver: The failure of  the City to insist, in any one or more instances, upon 
a strict performance of any o f  the covenants of  this contract, or to exercise any option herein 
contained, shall not be construed as a waiver, or a relinquishment for the future o f  such covenant 
or option, but the same shall continue and remain in full force and effect. 

B. Waiver of  Modification: Any waiver, alteration or modification of any of  the 
provisions of this agreement or cancellation or replacement of  this agreement shall not be valid 

Page 6 o f  8 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



unless in writing and signed by the parties hereto. This agreement may be amended at any time 
by written agreement of the parties signatory hereto. 

C. Notices: Any and all notices required or permitted to be given under this 
agreement will be sufficient if  furnished in writing and sent by Registered Mail to the parties' 
last known address. 

D. Governing Law: This agreement shall be interpreted, construed and governed to 
the laws of the State of Alabama. 

E. Article and Section Headings: The article and section headings and captions 
contained herein are included for convenience only, and shall not be considered a part hereof or 
affect in any manner the construction or interpretation hereof. 

F. Execution in Counterparts: The contract may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 

G. Binding Effect: The contract shall inure to the benefit of, and shall be binding 
upon City and General Contractor and their heirs, successors and assigns. 

H. Severability: In the event any provision of this contract shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision hereof. 

I. Entire Agreement: This written contract contains the entire agreement between 
the City and the General Contractor. 

I N  WITNESS WHEREOF,  the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama and 
Q J f \ l ' \   uct::Po, have caused this agreement to be executed by their duly 
authorized officers and their respective seals to be affixed hereto on this the _ 3 _  day of 
D?ct:mlgzc , 2019. 

C I T Y  OF VESTAVIA  HILLS,  A L A B A M A  

By { . C. G..uvut/ 
ItsMaycl/ --zt 

Page 7 of 8 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



i 

DlmNCONS UCTI.ON 

By g;;: 
ATI'ESTED: 

Page8 of8 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Ashley C. Curry, whose name as Mayor o f  the City o f  Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a 
municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing contract, and who is known to me, 
acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of  the contents o f  the contract, he, as 
such officer and with full authority. executed the same voluntarily for and as the act o f  said City 
o f  Vestavia Hills, Alabama.

Given under my hand and official seal, this the 3 day o f  U  , 2019. 

< 

STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

JOAN UCAAI AlrANO 
Notary Publlo 

Atabam• State at t.arge 
My eommlsslon E,cptraa 

Aprll 18, 2022 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I, th�undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that t \jQ4\_S � ' l ' \ f '  whose name as\.}',tt.  ,ts·, kYLt of

\ ) l . ,m{ )  \!)\ M°ll t ;hoo �-X;\')L . is signed to the foregoing contract, and who is known 
to me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed o f  the contents o f  the contract, 
(s )h�s such officer and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for and as the act o f  
said � C " ® �  

1
� \a.._\oo..,.'C!"Q.. 

2019. 
Given under my hand and official seal, this the"J.\..o� day o f � � f . A , . .  

Page 9 of 8 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



EXHIBIT 1 

INVITATION TO BID 
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
1032 MONTGOMERY HIGHWAY 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 35216 

BIDS FOR STREET RESURFACING FOR A 
PERIOD OF 3 YEARS  TO B E  OPENED 

DATE OF INVITATION TO BID: 

ON SEPTEMBER 12, 2019, A T  10:00 AM. 
BIDS TO BE TURNED IN NO 
L A T E R  THAN 10:00 AM ON THIS D A  TE. 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

AUGUST 16. 2019 

BID: STREET RESURFACING 
FOR A PERIOD OF 3 Y E A R S  

Sealed bids will be received by the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, in the Office of the City Clerk at the Vestavia Hills 
City Hall until the above time and date, and opened at 10:00 a.m. on September 12, 2019, in the Executive Conference 
Room in the Vestavia Hills City Hall situated at 1032 Montgomery Highway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama 35216. Please 
return in a sealed envelope marked with the bid name as listed above. Bids must be returned by 10:00 AM by the date 
listed above. Bids received in the Office of the City Clerk either by hand delivery or mail after the specified date and hour 
will not be considered. A non-mandatory pre-bid meeting will be held in the Executive Conference Room in the Vestavia 
Hills City Hall at 10:00 AM on September 4, 2019. Determination of the lowest responsible and responsive bidder and 
consideration of acceptance of the bid will be considered by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama at a 
public hearing to be conducted at its next regularly scheduled or special meeting. 
********************************************************************************************* 

NAME OF COMPANY: Dunn Construction Company, Inc. 

PRICE*: _ _ _  ,._· *-*=S=E=E..,_A:..aTTa....;..:.A=C=H=E=D-=B=I=D-=S=H=E=• E=• T:.:S::;...*_*_* _ _ _ WARRANTY: _1 __ y_ea_r _ _ _ _ _  _ 

I hereby affirm that I have not been in any agreement or collusion among bidders or prospective bidders in restraint of 
freedom of competition, by agreement to bid at a fixed price or to refrain from bidding or otherwise. 
This form must be notarized. F I R M  Dunn Construction Company, Inc. 

/ ' )  
Sworn and Subscribed 

 ore 
1  

this the { d  day o f   n  B Y  Evans J. Dunn 
.::.;·,----.::,, cL - ,/<-_ . ...-::·.:.r>-- ---

20\'1. _ 

- d
- . :· Nora,y\pi.ibjt --·. ;·: .• . . .-- ··, 

A D D R E S S  3905 Airport Highway, Birmingham, AL 35222 

PHONE 205-592-3866 

My·Co_m111js;,ion.·Expires______ D A T E  September 12, 2019 
*****'*.**"* .•·*******:t:***********•***********************-**-.. -.. -•• -.. -•• -.. -•• -.-.-•• - . -•• -.-.-•• -.. -.. -•• -*-**_*_*_**-.. -.*-*-,.-.. ,,-.-.-**-*-*** 
ALL BIDD°J::RS ·MUST USE BID FOR.tvlS PROVIDED IN THIS PACKAGE. COMPLETE TYPED OR IN INK. THE CITY 
RESERVES THE RIGHT TO REJECT OR WAIVE ANY AND ALL BIDS OR PORTIONS THEREOF. QUESTIONS SHOULD
BE ADDRESSED TO THE OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK, PHONE (205) 978-0131. 

Rebecca Leavings, Purchasing Agent 
Submitted _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ , 20 l 9 

Invitation to Bid - Street Resurfacing - Page 1 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



CITY OF VESTA VIA HILLS 

The undersigned, as Bidder, hereby declares that the only person or persons interested in the bid as 
principal or principals is/or named herein and that no other person that herein mentioned has any interest in this 
bid or in the contract to be entered into; that this bid is made without connection with any person, company or 
parties making a bid and that it is in all respects fair and in good faith, without collusion or fraud. 

The bidder further declares that bidder has examined the site o f  the work and informed bidder fully in 
regard to all conditions pertaining to the place where the work is to be done; that bidder has examined the 
contract documents for the work and has read all special conditions furnished prior to the opening o f  bids; that 
bidder has satisfied bidder relative to the work to be performed. The bidder further declares that bidder fully 
understands that the City o f  Vestavia Hills has put forth a good-faith effort o f  estimating the approximate 
amount of  quantities for the seal, binder, Tack Coat, Milling, Striping, Temporary Striping, Permanent 
Markings (Stop Bars and Crosswalks), Traffic Loops, Raise Manholes, Valve Resets, etc. The bidder 
acknowledges and agrees that the final quantities may vary. 

The bidder proposes and agrees, i f  this bid is accepted, to contract with the City o f  Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama, in the form of  contracts attached hereto, to furnish all necessary materials, equipment, tools, 
machinery apparatus, means o f  transportation, and labor necessary to complete the construction o f  Street Repair 
and Resurfacing in full; and complete in accordance with shown, noted, described and reasonable intended 
requirements o f  the contract documents, to the full and entire satisfaction o f  the City o f  Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama. 

The successful bidder will be awarded a 3-year contract; agrees to have all work completed within 90 
days of submission o f  paving needs, and agrees to commence work with an adequate force and sufficient 
equipment to complete the work within the allotted time, at the unit prices hereinafter named (with said pricing 
adjustments pursuant to Page 5-6 o f  this bid). 

The bidder to whom the award is made shall enter into a written contract on the form included in the 
proposal, plans and specifications, furnish a performance bond and payment bond executed by a surety 
company duly authorized and qualified to make such bonds in the State o f  Alabama in the amount required by 
subsection (a) o f  Section 39-1-1, Code o f  Alabama, 1975, and provide evidence o f  insurance as required by the 
bid documents within the period specified or, i f  no period is specified, within 15 days after the prescribed forms 
have been presented to bidder for signature. I f  extenuating circumstances prevail, the awarding authority may 
grant an extension in time not exceeding five days for the return o f  the contract, required bonds and required 
evidence of  insurance. 

The City shall approve the contractor's bonds meeting the requirements as set forth above and the 
contractor's evidence o f  insurance meeting the requirements o f  the bid documents, as well as complete the 
execution of  the contract, within 20 days after their presentation by the contractor unless the successful 
contractor agrees in writing to a longer period. 

A proceed order shall be issued by the City within 15 days after final execution o f  the contract by the 
City, unless both parties agree in writing to a stipulated extension o f  time for the issuance o f  a proceed order. 

Should the successful bidder or bidders to whom a contract is awarded fail to execute a contract and 
furnish acceptable contract securities and evidence o f  insurance as required by law within the period as set forth 
above, the City shall retain from the proposal guaranty, i f  it is a cashier's check, or recover from the principal or 
the sureties, i f  the guaranty is a bid bond, the difference between the amount o f  the contract as awarded and the 
amount o f  the proposal o f  the next lowest bidder. I f  no other bids are received, the full amount o f  the proposal 

Invitation to B i d - Street Resurfacing- Page 2 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



guaranty shall be so retained or recovered as-liquidated damages for such default. Any sums so retained or 
recovered shall be the property o f  the City. 

ALABAMA PUBLIC WORKS LAW 

Alabama law regarding the letting, execution and administration o f  public improvements contracts 
("public works") by municipalities is set forth in Title 39, Chapters 1 through 5, o f  the Code o f  Alabama, 1975. 
The Alabama Public Works Law regarding public works construction projects provides, among other things, as 
follows: 

A. PUBLIC WORKS LA w: A public works project is the expenditure o f  public funds on real estate 
owned by the City or on a structure attached to that real estate. Section 39-2-1, Code o f  Alabama, 1975, defines 
"public works" as: 

"The construction, repair, renovation or maintenance o f  public buildings, 
structures, sewers, water works, roads, bridges, docks, underpasses and viaducts, 
as well as any other improvement to be constructed, repaired, renovated or 
maintained on public property and to be paid, in whole or in part, with public 
funds or with financing to be retired with public funds in the form o f  lease 
payments or otherwise." 

B. BIDDING ON PUBLIC WORKS PROJECTS: Alabama now provides that all public works projects 
shall be governed by Title 39-2-1, et seq., Code o f  Alabama, 1975. Simply stated, those laws provide as 
follows: 

" I .  Public works projects involving expenditures o f  $50,000 or less do 
not have to be bid; and 

and 
2. Public works projects involving more than $50,000.00 must be bid;

3. For public works contracts between $50,000.00 and $500,000.00, a
City must publish notice o f  the request for bids at least once in a newspaper o f  
general circulation published in the city; and 

4. • For contracts involving expenditures of  more than $500,000.00 for
public works, a City must also advertise for sealed bids at least once in three 
newspapers o f  general circulation throughout the State o f  Alabama." 

C. BID BOND: All contractors that submit a bid on a public works construction project must file a
bid bond with the bid. 

1. Requirement: Alabama law at Title 39-2-4, Code o f  Alabama, 1975. 

2. Amount: Not less than five percent (5%) of the estimated cost or more than Ten 
Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00). 

3. Purpose: A guarantee by the contractor that it will perform the work for the amount o f
the bid. 

--- - - - - -  · - - - - - - - - - - -

Invitation to Bid - Street Resurfacing - Page 3 

- - - - - - - - - · - · - - - - - - · - - - - - · - - - -

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



D. PERFORMANCE BOND: Any contractor entering into a contract with the City for a public works
project shall, before commencing work, execute a performance bond. 

1. 

2. 

3. 

Requirement: Alabama law at Title 39-1-l(a), Code of Alabama, 1975. 

Amount: One hundred percent (100%) o f  the amount o f  the contract price. 

Purpose: To guarantee completion of  the work. 

E. PAYMENT BOND: All  contractors entering into a contract with the City for any public works
project shall, before commencing the work, execute a payment bond. 

1. Requirement: Alabama law at Title 39-1-l(a) and (b), Code of Alabama, 1975. 

2. Amount: Not less than fifty percent (50%) o f  the contract price.

3. Purpose: I f  the general contractor does not pay its subcontractors, then in such event the 
subcontractors or other people who have furnished labor, materials or supplies for the prosecution o f  the work 
can file a claim for payment under the payment bond. 

F. BIDS AND BIDDING; AWARD: The contract shall be awarded to the lowest responsible and 
responsive bidder, unless the awarding authority finds that all the bids are unreasonable or that it is not to the 
interest of the awarding authority to accept any o f  the bids. A responsible bidder is one who, among other 
qualities determined necessary for performance, is competent, experienced, and financially able to perform the 
contract. A responsible bidder is one who submits a bid that complies with the terms and conditions o f  the 
invitation for bids. Minor irregularities in the bid shall not defeat responsiveness. The bidder to whom the 
award is made shall be notified by e-mail or letter at the earliest possible date. I f  the successful bidder fails or 
refuses to sign the contract, to make bond as provided in this chapter or to provide evidence o f  insurance as 
required by the bid documents, the awarding authority may award the contract to the second lowest responsible 
and responsive bidder. I f  the second lowest bidder fails or refuses to sign the contract, make bond as provided 
in this chapter or to provide evidence o f  insurance as required by the bid documents, the awarding authority 
may award the contract to the third lowest responsible and responsive bidder. Title 39-2-6(a), Code of 
Alabama, 1975. 

G. CONTRACT, BONDS, AND INSURANCE; REQUIRED: The bidder to whom the award is made shall
enter into a written contract on the form included in the proposal, plans, and specifications, furnish a 
performance bond and payment bond executed by a surety company duly authorized and qualified to make such 
bonds in the State o f  Alabama in the amount required by subsection (a) o f  Section 39-1-1 and provide evidence 
o f  insurance as required by the bid documents within the period specified or, i f  no period is specified, within 15 
days after the prescribed forms have been presented to him or her for signature. I f  extenuating circumstances 
prevail, the awarding authority may grant an extension in time not exceeding five days for the return o f  the 
contract, required bonds and required evidence o f  insurance. Title 39-2-8, Code of Alabama, 1975. 

H. APPLICABILITY: Notwithstanding any other laws to the contrary (Act 97-225, which is set forth
in Title 39, Chapters l through 5, o f  the Code of Alabama, 1975, "Public Works" law) shall control all public 
works contracts on the state, county and municipal levels o f  government in the State o f  Alabama. Title 39-1-5, 
Code of Alabama, 1975. 

The bidder, by submission o f  this bid, hereby agrees that the contract executed and delivered by and 
between the City of  Vestavia Hills, Alabama and bidder shall be interpreted, construed, administered and 
enforced all in accordance with the "Public Works" law o f  Alabama. The bidder further agrees that should 

Invitation to B i d - Street Resurfacing- Page 4 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2914



Ordinance No. 2915 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2915 

AN ORDINANCE TO APPROVE AN ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION 
OF AGREEMENT AND A SALES CONTRACT FOR A RIGHT-OF-WAY 
PURCHASE OF REAL ESTATE SITUATED AT 3995-3103 GREENDALE 
ROAD IN THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA CONSISTING 
OF APPROXIMATELY 0.34 ACRES, MORE OR LESS (“PROPERTY”) 
AND AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE MAYOR AND CITY 
MANAGER TO EXECUTE AND DELIVER SAID THE CONTRACT AND 
ANY AND ALL OTHER DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO CLOSE THE 
SALE AND/OR CONVEYANCE PURSUANT TO THE TERMS, 
PROVISIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SAID AGREEMENT.   

THIS ORDINANCE NUMBER 2915 is approved and adopted by the City Council of 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama on this the 27th day of January, 2020. 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, on January 27, 2020, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2905 to approve a purchase agreement for 

the real estate and improvements situated at 3995-3103 Greendale Road in the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama consisting of approximately 0.34± acres (the “Property”) for the possible 

purchase of said Property by the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama (“City”); and 

WHEREAS, if the City purchases the Property, then in such event the City Manager 

recommended that: 

(1) Approximately 0.02± acres be used for an in progress public works project to

widen Crosshaven Road (“project to widen Crosshaven Road”); and 

(2) The balance of the Property be sold to another party; and

WHEREAS, the City Attorney had prepared an Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real

Estate (“Agreement”) setting forth the terms, provisions and conditions of the negotiations and 

recommendation by the City Manager for consideration by the City Council; and 

WHEREAS, the City Attorney further prepared an Assignment and Assumption of 

Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate and a Sales Contract to sell said property, less a 

portion to be dedicated as right-of-way, to Bridgewater Partners, LLC, an Alabama limited 

liability company, or its assignee; and   

WHEREAS, a copy of the Agreement is attached hereto, marked as Exhibit A and is 

incorporated into this Ordinance Number 2915 by reference as though set out fully herein. 



Ordinance No. 2915 
Page 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Agreements attached hereto and marked as Exhibit A is incorporated in its

entirety into this Ordinance Number 2915 by reference as though set out fully herein. 

2. The Agreements are hereby approved by the City Council.

3. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized and directed to execute and

deliver the Agreement for and on behalf of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

4. The City Council hereby authorizes and directs the City Manager to execute any

and all other documents necessary to close the purchase and sale of the Property pursuant to the 

terms, provisions and conditions of the Agreement attached hereto.  In addition, the City Manager 

is hereby authorized to make editorial revisions and corrections that do not substantially change 

said Agreement. 

5. If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be held unconstitutional

or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the 

remainder of this ordinance, which shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such 

holding. 

6. This Ordinance Number 2915 shall become effective upon its approval, adoption,

enactment and publication by posting as set forth in Title 11-45-8(b), Code of Alabama, 1975.  

DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED on this the 13th day of February, 

2020. 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

By __________________________________ 
Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor 

ATTESTED BY 

____________________________________ 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Ordinance No. 2915 
Page 3 

CERTIFICATION: 

I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby certify 
that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance #2915 is a true and correct copy of such 
Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills on the 13th 
day of February, 2020 as same appears in the official records of said City. 

Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills New Merkle House, Vestavia 
Hills Civic Center and Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest this the ___________ day of February, 
2020. 

Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF 
AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE OF REAL ESTATE 

This Assignment and Assumption of Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate (this “Assignment”) is 
dated as of _______________, 2020 (the “Effective Date”) by and between The City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a 
municipal corporation (“Assignor”), and BRIDGEWATER PARTNERS, LLC, an Alabama limited liability 
company, or its assignee (“Assignee”). 

Recitals: 

WHEREAS, Assignor entered into that certain Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate with Nonidez 
Properties (“Seller”), dated as of _______________, 2020 (the “Contract”), for the purchase and sale of certain real 
property located in Jefferson County, Alabama, as more particularly described in the Contract (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Assignor desires to assign all of its right, title and interest in and to the Contract to the 
Assignee, and the Assignee desires to accept the assignment. 

Agreement 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein, and other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Assignment.

(a) Assignor does hereby assign, transfer, set over and deliver to Assignee all of Assignor’s
right, title and interest in and to the Contract, including without limitation all of its rights, privileges and benefits as 
the purchaser thereunder.  TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Contract unto Assignee, its successors and assigns. 

(b) By accepting this assignment, Assignee hereby assumes and agrees to perform all of the
obligations of the purchaser under the Contract from and after the Effective Date. 

(c) Assignee shall indemnify, defend and hold Assignor harmless from and against any and all
obligations, claims, costs, demands, losses, damages, liabilities, lawsuits, actions and other proceedings in law or in 
equity or otherwise, judgments, awards and expenses of every kind and nature whatsoever, including without 
limitation, attorneys’ fees, arising out of or relating to, directly or indirectly, the Contract, vesting, accruing and/or 
arising on and after the Effective Date.   

(d) Assignor shall indemnify, defend and hold Assignee harmless from and against any and all
obligations, claims, costs, demands, losses, damages, liabilities, lawsuits, actions and other proceedings in law or in 
equity or otherwise, judgments, awards and expenses of every kind and nature whatsoever, including without 
limitation, attorneys’ fees, arising out of or relating to, directly or indirectly, the Contract, vesting, accruing and/or 
arising prior to the Effective Date.   

2. Additional Agreement.  In connection with the foregoing, Assignee and Assignor agree to enter
into a Sales Contract in the form attached as Exhibit A hereto (the “.02 Acre Contract”) for the sale by Assignee to 
Assignee of a portion of the Property consisting of approximately .02 acres and more particularly described in the .02 
Acre Contract (the “.02 Acre Parcel”).  Assignor expressly agrees that, with respect to the portion of the Property 
retained by Assignee after its sale of the .02 Acre Parcel to Assignor, any and all existing municipal parking, signage 
and related zoning and other requirements shall be “grandfathered” and thus will not be modified by Assignor 
subsequent to such sale of the .02 Acre Parcel. 

3. Contingencies.  This Assignment is subject to and contingent upon (i) the formal approval of the
Contract by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama as described in the recitals above by duly enacted 
ordinance pursuant to and in accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama, and (ii) the formal approval of this 
Assignment by the City Council by the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama by duly enacted ordinance pursuant to and in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama; and (iii) the execution and delivery of the Sales Contract wherein 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2915



2

Assignee agrees to sell and Assignor agrees to purchase the 0.02 acre parcel pursuant to the terms, provisions and 
conditions of said Contract; and (iv) the closing of the sale described in (iii).   If the foregoing contingencies are not 
completed, then in such event this Assignment shall automatically be terminated . 

4. Binding Effect.  This Assignment shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto, and their respective successors and assigns. 

5. Definitions.  For all purposes of this Assignment, capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein
shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Contract. 

6. General Provisions.  Except as amended and modified by this Assignment, all of the terms,
covenants, conditions and agreements of the Contract shall remain in full force and effect.  In the event of any conflict 
between the Contract and the provisions of this Assignment, this Assignment shall control. 

7. Separability Clause.  If any provision of this Assignment shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable,
the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired 
thereby. 

8. Counterparts.  This Assignment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which so
executed shall be deemed an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same 
agreement. 

9. Governing Law.  This Assignment shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws
of the state in which the property that is subject to the Contract is located (without regard to conflict of law principles). 

[Signature page follows]

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2915



3

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Assignment as of the Effective Date. 

ASSIGNOR: 

THE CITYOF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
A Municipal Corporation 

By: _____________________________________ 
Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor 

By: _____________________________________ 
Jeffrey D. Downes 
City Manager 

ASSIGNEE: 

[BRIDGEWATER ENTITY] 

By:  __________________________________ 
Name:  __________________________________
Its:  __________________________________ 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2915



4

Exhibit A 

(Sales Contract) 

See Attached. 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2915



SALES CONTRACT 

, 2020 

[BRIDGEWATER ENTITY] (“Seller”) hereby agrees to sell and THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, 

a municipal corporation (“Purchaser”) hereby agrees to purchase the following described real estate, together with the 

improvements thereon and attached appurtenances, if any (the “Property”) consisting of approximately .02 acres and 

situated in Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, on the terms stated below:  

Legal description shown in attached Exhibit “A”. 

1. The PURCHASE PRICE shall be $135,154, payable in cash at closing.

2. CONDITION OF PROPERTY:  Neither Seller nor any agent of any party hereto makes any representations or 
warranties regarding the condition of the Property except to the extent expressly and specifically set forth herein. 
Purchaser has the obligation to determine, either personally or through or with a representative of Purchaser's 
choosing, any and all conditions of the property material to Purchaser's decision to buy the Property.  Purchaser, 
or Purchaser's representative, shall have the right to enter the Property for the purpose of inspecting same, and/or 
making boundary line and topographical surveys of the same, and/or making soil tests thereon, and/or in general 
observing and investigating the conditions of the Property.  Purchaser agrees to indemnify Seller and its successors 

and assigns from and against any liability associated with Purchaser's rights under this paragraph.

3. CONVEYANCE:  Seller agrees to convey the Property to Purchaser by a statutory warranty deed, free of all 
encumbrances except as herein set forth, and Seller agrees that any encumbrances not herein excepted or assumed 
will be cleared at the time of closing.  The Property is sold and is to be conveyed subject to:  (i) mineral and 
mining rights not owned by Seller; (ii) utility easements serving the Property, easements, subdivision and other 
covenants and restrictions affecting the Property, and building lines of record; and (iii) title exceptions which 
would be shown by an accurate survey and title search of the Property.

4. TITLE INSURANCE:  Purchaser may obtain a standard form title insurance policy issued by a company 
qualified to insure titles in Alabama in the amount of the purchase price, insuring Purchaser against loss on account 

of any defect or encumbrance in the title unless herein excepted.  The expense of the title policy and premium 
shall be paid by Purchaser.

5. PRORATIONS:  Ad valorem taxes are to be pro-rated between Seller and Purchaser as of the date of closing.

6. CLOSING COSTS: Except as otherwise specifically set forth herein, all closing costs, including without 
limitation any transfer taxes and other costs associated with the recording of the deed, shall be paid by Purchaser.

7. CLOSING AND POSSESSION DATES:  The sale shall be closed and the deed delivered simultaneously with 
the Seller’s purchase of the Property as defined in that certain Assignment and Assumption of Agreement for 
Purchase and Sale of Real Estate dated _____________, 2020 between Purchaser, as assignor, and Seller, as 
assignee (the “Closing Date).  Possession is to be given on the Closing Date, however, the Seller may continue to 
use the Property until such time as construction begins by the City on said roadway improvements. 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2915



2

8. DISCLAIMER:  Purchaser acknowledges that it has not relied upon advice or representations of Seller relative

to (i) the legal or tax consequences of this Sales Contract and the sale, purchase or ownership of the Property;

(ii) the structural condition of the Property, (iii) the availability of utilities or sewer service; (iv) the investment or

resale value of the Property; or (v) any other matters affecting their willingness to purchase the Property on terms

and price herein set forth.  Purchaser acknowledges that if such matters are of concern to them in the decision to

sell or purchase the Property, he/she/it have sought and obtained independent advice relative thereto.

PURCHASER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THIS

CONTRACT, AT CLOSING SELLER SHALL SELL AND CONVEY TO PURCHASER AND PURCHASER

SHALL ACCEPT THE PROPERTY “AS IS, WHERE IS, WITH ALL FAULTS”.

9. CONTINGENCY:  This Agreement is subject to and contingent upon the formal approval of the Agreement by

the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama by duly enacted ordinance pursuant to and in accordance

with the laws of the State of Alabama.  If this condition of approval as aforesaid is not completed, then in such

event this Agreement shall automatically be terminated.

10. ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  THIS CONTRACT CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE AGREEMENT BETWEEN

PURCHASER AND SELLER REGARDING THE PROPERTY, AND SUPERSEDES ALL PRIOR

DISCUSSIONS, NEGOTIATIONS, AND AGREEMENTS BETWEEN PURCHASER AND SELLER,

WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN.  NEITHER PURCHASER, SELLER, NOR AGENT, NOR ANY SALES

AGENT SHALL BE BOUND BY ANY UNDERSTANDING, AGREEMENT, PROMISE OR

REPRESENTATION CONCERNING THE PROPERTY, EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, NOT SPECIFIED

HEREIN.

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE A LEGALLY BINDING CONTRACT.  IF YOU DO NOT UNDERSTAND THE

LEGAL EFFECT OF ANY PART OF THIS CONTRACT, SEEK LEGAL ADVICE BEFORE SIGNING.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2915



3

Each of the parties acknowledges that he/she/it has a right to be represented at all times in connection with the 

Contract and the closing by an attorney of his/her/its own choosing, at his/her/its own expense. 

The date of this Contract shall be the date this Contract is fully executed by all parties. 

SELLER: 

[BRIDGEWATER ENTITY] 

BY: 
Witness to Seller’s Signature NAME: 

ITS: 

DATE: 

PURCHASER: 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

___________________________________________  By: _____________________________ 
Witness to Purchaser’s Signature Ashley C. Curry 

Mayor 

By: _____________________________ 
Jeffrey D. Downes 

City Manager 

DATE: 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2915



  
  

4

EXHIBIT “A” 
 
 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2915



 
PARCEL 2 
 
A parcel of land situated in the Southeast quarter of Section 15, Township 18 
South, Range 2 West, Jefferson County, Alabama, being more particularly 
described by metes and bounds as follows: 
 
Commence at a found 5/8 inch rebar marking the Northwest corner of Lot 1‐A, 
Daventry Village as recorded in Map Book 160, Page 2 in the Office of the Judge of 
Probate of said County and the Easterly right of way line of Crosshaven Drive; 
thence run North 02 Degrees 32 minutes 08 seconds West along the said right of 
way line for a distance of 331.49 feet to a found 5/8 inch rebar; thence continue 
North 02 Degrees 32 minutes 08 seconds West along said right of way line for a 
distance of 60.28 feet to a set capped rebar stamped (CA‐560‐LS) and the Point of 
Beginning; thence continue North 02 Degrees 32 minutes 08 seconds West along 
said right of way line for a distance of 85.44 feet to a set capped rebar stamped 
(CA‐560‐LS) on the South right of way line of Greendale Road; thence run South 
88 Degrees 26 minutes 28 seconds East along said right of way line for a distance 
of 20.92 feet to a set capped rebar stamped (CA‐560‐LS); thence leaving said right 
of way line run South 01 Degrees 33 minutes 32 seconds West for a distance of 
15.55 feet to a set capped rebar stamped (CA‐560‐LS); thence run South 89 
Degrees 05 minutes 12 seconds West for a distance of 6.00 feet to a set capped 
rebar stamped (CA‐560‐LS); thence run South 00 Degrees 02 minutes 49 seconds 
West for a distance of 20.48 feet to a set capped rebar stamped (CA‐560‐LS); 
thence run South 12 Degrees 23 minutes 33 seconds West for a distance of 49.83 
feet to the Point of Beginning. Said parcel contains 909 square feet or 0.02 acres 
more or less. 

Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2915



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2915


	2020_0127CC_A
	2020_0113CC_M
	Ordinance 2905
	Ordinance 2906
	Ordinance 2908
	Resolution 5218
	Resolution 5219
	Resolution 5220
	Ordinance 2914
	Ordinance 2915



